University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Economics ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fall 11-15-2020

Chad: Human Fertility, Crop Production and Changing Weather Patterns

Jake Organ University of New Mexico - Main Campus

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/econ_etds

Part of the Economics Commons

Recommended Citation

Organ, Jake. "Chad: Human Fertility, Crop Production and Changing Weather Patterns." (2020). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/econ_etds/122

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Economics ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

CHAD: HUMAN FERTILITY, CROP PRODUCTION AND CHANGING WEATHER PATTERNS

Jake Organ

Candidate

Economics
Department

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

Dr. Kira Villa, University of New Mexico, Chairperson

Dr. Janie Chermak, University of New Mexico, Chairperson

Dr. Alok Bohara, University of New Mexico

Dr. Katherine Powers, University of New Mexico

CHAD: HUMAN FERTILITY, CROP PRODUCTION AND CHANGING WEATHER PATTERNS

BY

JAKE ORGAN

B.A., History, Cambridge University, 1992 M.A. Cantab, History, Cambridge University, 1996 M.A., Economics, University of New Mexico, 2016

> Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

Economics

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

December, 2020

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to express sincere appreciation to my joint chairs Professor Villa and Professor Chermak, who have worked tirelessly on my behalf and without which, I would not have finished my dissertation. Also thanks to Professor Bohara for his teaching and mentoring throughout the whole program, and to Professor Powers for her kind and directive advice. I would also like to thank my cohort, who upheld me during the first few years of the program. Finally, I want to thank my wife, Dr. Jemima N. Organ who inspired me to return to education and has been my support throughout the program.

Chad: Human Fertility, Crop Production and Changing Weather Patterns

BY JAKE ORGAN

B.A., History, Cambridge University, 1992 M.A. Cantab, History, Cambridge University, 1996 M.A., Economics, University of New Mexico, 2016 PhD, Economics, University of New Mexico 2020

ABSTRACT

The subject of this dissertation is the effect of changing weather patterns on human fertility in Chad, Sahelian Africa. There is a body of literature on the effect of extreme weather events-usually associated with large-scale mortality-and human fertility. However, there is less of a body of literature on the effects of less extreme changing weather patterns and human fertility. Chad has known substantial warming since the late 1960s, hence I use rising heat as a proxy for changing weather patterns. Using GIS-coded fertility and weather data, I look for correlations between the birth rate and the number of days in a month above 31 degrees Celsius, while partitioning data by climatic zone and by level of staple crop intensity. I then run the same models with sorghum and millet (Chadian staple crops) as the dependent variables. I find a general pattern that the same planting season high temperature days that have a negative effect on the birth rate, also have a negative effect on both sorghum and millet yields that is driven by the Sahel region. This accords with my adapted Beckerian theoretical model, but there are other more ambiguous results.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ABSTRACTiv
CHAPTER 1-INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER 2 GENERAL LITERATURE REVIEW AND CHAD BACKGROUND 4
Population growth and climate change literature7
Sahel Background and specific literature
The Dark Continent Narrative11
Sahelian Agriculture and the wider Sub-Saharan African context
Adapting to Climate Change-the African Context
CHAPTER 3-RESEARCH QUESTION AND THEORY
Research Questions
Becker And Demand For Children
Testable hypotheses
CHAPTER 4-DATA AND METHODOLOGY SECTION44
Fertility data and covariates
Household covariates
High temperature days data48
Violence Data
Agricultural Data51
Summary statistics

Empirical methodology
Econometric Model
Identification strategy69
CHAPTER 5-RESULTS70
Discussion of results
Recalling Our Original Research Questions:
Planting Season High Heat Days
Harvest Season High Heat Days
Dry Season High Heat Days
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION
Summary of Method and Findings102
Wider Implications
Caveats
Future Directions
Bibliography

CHAPTER 1-INTRODUCTION

In early 2011, I saw evidence of the drowned bodies of Senegalese refugees on the Southern Spanish coast. The desire to understand what pressures drove these young men to make such a perilous journey, was the start of the process that led me to the write this dissertation. My interest in answering some of the questions around what I discovered about the problems driving migrant flows from the African Sahel, led me to start my PhD in 2015. I wanted, initially, to study the link between climate change and migration in a Sahelian context. However, as I studied the area, I saw that the issue of population growth was a cause that underpinned a lot of the more noticeable symptoms of the growing problems of the area. While considering the question of Sahelian population growth, I discovered the under-researched country of Chad. This country, described as the 'dead heart of Africa'¹, lacks a large body of empirical work in English, or even in French. This work is an attempt to add to that nascent body of work, by answering some of the questions around the impact of changing weather patterns and population growth in the Sahelian context.

In this dissertation, I analyze the effect of an extra high temperature day on human fertility in the Chadian context. While there is a large body of work focusing on how extreme weather events leading to large-scale mortality, lead to a positive fertility rebound effect, there is a substantially smaller literature that considers fertility responses to changing weather patterns and in particular, rising heat. It is to this body of research I add. The foundation of my theoretical work is Gary Becker's

¹ It is easy to find references to Chad being described as 'the dead heart of Africa', however, it is difficult to find who initially used this phrase. The phrase has been attributed to S.H. Frankel in D.J.J. Botha's 'Reminiscences of an Economist', but in this article Professor Frankel is referring to an area shared by Kenya, Tanzania and Zambia as 'the Dead Heart of Africa' (Botha 1992).

'Treatise on the Family', and I concentrate on his chapter entitled 'The Demand for Children' (Becker 1991).

Building off Becker's model for demand for children, I add changing weather patterns and hypothesize how rising heat would influence the demand for children in a rural Chadian context. There is also a large strand of literature that suggests that extreme heat has a negative effect on human fertility, which I discuss in the next chapter (Richards 1983; Becker, Chowdhury, Leridon 1986; Lam, Miron 1996; Nielson 2016).

I develop a theoretical model that extends Becker and hypothesize that there are two major routes whereby rising heat can affect fertility. Firstly, there can be a direct effect of rising heat on fertility through the effect of heat on human health. There can be many ways that this works; increased miscarriages, decreased sperm production or increased incidence of stillbirth, but we assume that they are all the direct effect of rising heat on fertility through the health route. Secondly, there is the effect of rising heat on fertility, through the effect of rising heat on staple crop yield. This can occur through: the-positive or negative-effect of crop yield on economic well-being and food security, which can then lead to a rise or fall in miscarriages; or the crop failure or bounteous crop that causes a family decision to not have or have an additional child.

The Sahel, and particularly Chad, has experienced significant warming since the late 1960s, hence we can assume the changing weather patterns means heat above the average in a Chadian context. So we use rising heat to represent changing weather patterns, and we proxy for rising heat by the creating variables based on the number of days above certain temperature thresholds in a month. Using a semi-log regression with temporal fixed effects I analyze the relation between high temperature days and the birth rate. I also analyze the effect of the same high temperature days on the yields of two staple Chadian crops, millet and sorghum. By partitioning the data by zone and by level of staple crop intensity, I suggest mechanisms for the results observed.

My results reveal that there is a strong negative correlation between planting season high temperature days and the birthrate. This result is driven by the (more arid) Sahel zone of Chad, and by those areas that have a higher amount of land given to the staple crops of sorghum and millet. I also see that those same high-temperature days have a negative effect on both miller and sorghum yields. This suggests that in the absence of any rebound effect, the effect of heat shocks in the Sahel zone of Chad may act as a natural break on population growth.

CHAPTER 2 GENERAL LITERATURE REVIEW AND CHAD BACKGROUND

This dissertation augments the weather and fertility literature and I look at that in the first section of the literature review. The climate and fertility link adds to the wider literature on population growth and climate change, hence I survey that afterwards. Turning to the Sub-Saharan African context, I look at an overview of literature on African demography and then more specifically issues in the African Sahel. I then turn to my focus country Chad, and look at its demography, history, weather, economics and politics. Chad has a unique and complex history, culture and political situation, which the reader needs to understand to add to their comprehension of the empirical results.

Weather and fertility literature

There is a large strand in the literature that looks at the responses to large-scale mortality caused by extreme weather events, without looking at how fertility responds to changing weather patterns. These studies demonstrate that households may increase their fertility as a response to the increases in risk and mortality caused by extreme weather episodes (Lackzo, Aghazarm 2009; Gemenne 2011; Das Gupta et al. 2014; Salas 2017). Much of this literature focuses primarily on major environmental and/or weather events and the associated rise in child mortality (Owoo, Agyei Mensah & Onusha 2015; C. Davis 2017; Brauner-Otto & Axina 2017; Portner 2018). This response can be exacerbated in countries where a large amount of people survive through subsistence agriculture and children are an additional source of agricultural labor (Cain 1981). Increasing fertility may also be an insurance mechanism, where in the face of changing weather patterns parents may decide to have more children to provide for an uncertain future (Cain 1981; Rozensweig & Schultz 1983). All these studies suggest that extreme weather events cause a rise in fertility; however, this could be a response to the child mortality caused by the extreme weather event, rather than the change in weather patterns itself.

Changes in weather patterns can affect household fertility decisions both through biological and socio-economic channels. Rising temperature can biologically affect human fertility through a direct effect on reproductive capacity. Though the mechanism by which this happens is not clear, evidence demonstrates that extreme heat reduces human fertility (Richards 1983; Becker, Chowdhury, Leridon 1986; Lam, Miron 1996; Nielson 2016). Moreover, while this effect of heat has been observed in the United States and numerous developing countries, researchers have been largely unable to replicate it in Europe (Pasaminick, Dinitz, Knobloch 1966; Chaudhury 1977; Warren, Tyler 1979; Richards 1983; Kestenbaum 1987). Therefore, while heat has a negative effect on human fertility, the biological processes that cause this are still a source of debate.

Some argue that the effect of heat on human fertility may be augmented by seasonal photoperiodic² effects on individual hormone levels (Levine 1994). However, changes in the length of day versus night cannot explain the effects of within season changes in mean temperature. Generally, the direct effect of heat on human fertility can be the result of two physiological processes; increased temperature can reduce male spermatogenesis as well as restrict female ovulatory function (Boserup 1985; Lam, Miron 1996; Scholte, Van den Berg, Lindeboom 2015).

⁶ Photoperiodic effects: The idea that changes in the length of the day (or amount of sun) can affect human fertility.

Higher temperature can also directly lead to increased incidence of stillbirth (Strand, Barnett & Tong 2011; Basu, Sarovar & Malig 2016). Changing weather patterns can affect an area's disease environment as well as food security, through its effects on crop yields (Tiwari et al. 2017; Porter et al. 2013; Ray et al. 2012). This in turn can affect maternal malnutrition during pregnancy, which can affect the ability to carry a child to term (Kim & Prskawetz 2010). Additional evidence indicates that childhood and in-utero female malnutrition can cause adult sterility (Lumey & Stein 1997; Gluckman et al. 2005; Gardner et al. 2009; Song 2013). Finally, maternal malnutrition is also associated with increased rates of infant mortality and adverse birth outcomes (Nalumbamba-Phiri & Goldberg 2006; Snigal & Doyle 2008; Bhutta et al. 2013).

In regions dependent on rainfed agriculture, changing weather patterns can affect crop yields and hence cause economic and food security shocks that the household needs to respond to. These responses can be another indirect route, by which changing weather can affect human fertility. Much has been written on the effect of scarcity on fertility, as scarcity changes the parameters of the child quality/quantity trade-off (Becker & Lewis 1973; de Sherbinan et al. 2008; Alam & Portner 2018). Changing weather patterns can result in a tightening of resource constraints that then may cause reduced or delayed fertility (Eloundou-Enyegue, Stokes & Cornwell 2000; Mckenzie 2003; Mckelvey, Thomas & Frankenberg 2012). Changing weather patterns and resulting agricultural instability may also affect expectations on future returns to child labor in agricultural households.

6

Conversely, households can respond to income shocks by deciding to have more children. This can be due to seeing more children as a source of cheaper labor, where the labor markets are undeveloped (Cain 1981). Other researchers found that some households exhibit a 'family-bonding response' to income or environmental shocks, which leads to a rise in fertility (D. Henry, Tolan & Gorman-Smith 2004; Kesler et al. 2006; Love, Rhodes et al. 2012; Cohan & Cole 2012).

POPULATION GROWTH AND CLIMATE CHANGE LITERATURE

Desrochers and Szurmak (2018) have questioned the link between population growth and climate change in the book 'Population Bombed'. Desrochers and Szurmak's argument points out that the data have often proved wrong the population pessimists' predictions. They also point out that large-scale development has led to environmental resilience and demonstrate the operation of the Kuznets curve, whereby as nations get richer, they invest more in environmental goods (Kuznets 1955, 1963). Moreover, they use ³the Simon-Ehrlich wager to show the dynamism within the capitalist system in finding ways to find cheaper and more available sources of rare metals, and by extension raw materials.

However, though the market mechanism can work well in terms of privately owned and priced goods, there can be significant market failure in relation to environmental common property

³ The Simon-Ehrlich wager: In 1980 Economist Julian Simon and Biologist Paul Ehrlich bet on the 1990 prices of four scarce metals. Ehrlich, believing that they would become scarcer, bet that their prices would rise. Simon, believing in the power of the market to find new sources of the metals, bet that the prices would go down. Simon won the bet.

resources (M. Dasgupta 2014). Desrochers and Szurmak (2018) point to the increased taste for environmental preservation as the nation developed (Kuznet 1963; Desrochers & Szurmak 2018). This would then leave the potential for very destructive use of environmental property resources by those nations lower-down the Kuznet's curve (Kuznet 1963). Many academics and international organizations observe the problem of such environmental devastation happening in the developed world (Arrow et al 2004; P. Dasgupta 2010; World Bank 2010).

The capitalist market system, and increasingly the global capitalist market system has a weakness in its inability to disincentivize the overuse of public environmental goods. Those local resources that the community may see as free; forests, lakes, fisheries or animal populations among others will be massively underpriced compared to what they are giving to the community (Arrow 1969; Dasgupta 2001; Stern 2006). Hardin explored the question of how to address the lack of incentives to preserve environmental public goods (Hardin 1968). Many authors have questioned Hardin's claims; the most famous being Ostrom (Ostrom 1990). Ostrom has shown that by observing certain 'design principles', communities can come together to manage common-pool resources. However, it is difficult to see how Ostrom's principles can be used to manage cross-border common pool resources, let alone the global management of the atmosphere's ability to absorb carbon (Dasgupta et al 1997).

I agree that a cycle of overuse of common property resources can trap developing world countries, and that can certainly be exacerbated by high population growth. One of the most unjust aspects of climate change is that the developed nations have burnt most historical carbon emissions, but the most vulnerable countries to its effects are in the developing world (Dasgupta 2014). There are many reasons for this: including the tropical geographical positioning of many developing nations; the agricultural⁴ dependence of most of the developing nations; and inadequate health, physical and governmental infrastructure, which leads to a lack of resilience in the face of both large-scale climate disaster and smaller-scale incremental change (Stern 2006; World Development Review 2008).

This becomes clear when I look at the management of food and water resources. Global warming will decrease crop outputs at lower latitudes that will affect food security in many developing nations⁵ (Stern 2006; Dasgupta 2014). Changes in rainfall patterns can contribute to droughts and variation in their timing and intensity, leading to agricultural disruption, crop devastation, low yields and increased food insecurity (Stern 2006). The lowering of the birth rate can improve the issues of feeding the population, as well as educating and providing for their health (Rosenzweig and Wolpin 1980; Alderman et al 2006; Joshi and Schultz 2007; Rosenzweig and Zhang 2009; Miller 2010). This, and the vast body of literature that investigates the positive aspects of the demographic dividend, leads us to conclude that population decline is good for developing nations (Kelley & Schmidt 2005).

⁴ The agricultural sector is the most climate sensitive of all economic sectors.

SAHEL BACKGROUND AND SPECIFIC LITERATURE

Chad is situated in the larger Sahel region of Africa (see Map 1). Since the Sahel droughts of the early 1970s and through to the present Mediterranean migrant crisis, the Western Media has portrayed the region as beset by environmental and social crises. Though the population disaster literature described previously has weakened due to the massive fall in fertility worldwide, it now focuses on Sub-Saharan Africa, and especially the African Sahel.

Many writers-since the Sahelian droughts of the 1970s-have pointed to the climate change and exponential population growth in the African Sahel as confirmation of some of Malthus's worse predictions (Malthus 1793). Chad is in the African Sahel region between Niger and Sudan and bordering Nigeria, Libya, Cameroon and the Central African Republic. The Sahel is the semiarid region between the Sahara Desert in the North and Soudanese Savanna in the South, and it stretches across the African continent. The 'Sahel Crisis' is the idea that a mixture of climate change and unrestrained population growth is pushing the Sahel to the limits of its human carrying capacity and has become popular in the literature of many different disciplines (Seifert & Picardi 1977; Stein 1999; Fisher et al 2009; Potts et al 2012; Ehrlich & Ehrlich 2013). This 'crisis' is often framed as a rise in population as conceived by the 18th Century English Social Theorist, Thomas Malthus in his 'Essay on the Principle of Population' (Malthus 1793). According to this framing, the famines, wars and mass migration that we have seen since the early 1970's in this region are the outworking of a 'Malthusian break'⁶ on unrestrained

⁶ Malthusian break: An idea advanced by the Reverend Thomas Malthus in his 'Essay Concerning Human Population' (1793), that exponential human population growth would only be brought under control by the large-scale mortality brought about by disasters such as famine, floods and wars. His ideas have been largely discredited, but the seeming climate/population disasters of the Sahel and other parts of the developing world have caused a Neo-Malthusian school to arise.

population growth (IPCC 2001; Conley, Mccord & Sachs 2007; Potts 2013). Potts has published his Neo-Malthusian claims about the Sahel generally and Chad and Niger in particular, in highlevel economics journals (Potts et al 2010, Potts et al 2012, Potts et al 2015). This understanding of the region's issues incorporates Malthusian theory and the 'environmental determinism' that is often applied to various Sub-Saharan African crises.



Map 1: Shading the African Sahel

THE DARK CONTINENT NARRATIVE

Sub-Saharan Africa is the global exception in terms of the start and pace of their fertility transition (Guengant & May 2013; Casterline & Agyei-Mensah 2017). Of the thirty-seven nations with the highest Total Fertility Rate, only one-Afghanistan-is outside of Sub-Saharan Africa (World Bank Data 2017). Sub-Saharan Africa has a Total Fertility Rate of 4.8, while the second highest region Middle East/North Africa is trailing far behind at 2.9 (World Bank Data 2017). There are cultural, social and economic reasons for this 'Sub-Saharan African' exceptionalism in this area and at this time, but there is a danger that this anomaly further fuels an image of an African continent that is dysfunctional, out of control and fundamentally 'other'. Roe (1995) wrote 'Except-Africa: Postscript to a Special Section on Development Narratives'. In this, he specifically challenges the 'neo-Malthusian Doomsday scenario' that is often evoked when talking about social and environmental issues in Sub-Saharan Africa. He points out that writing on a broad range of topics in African development evokes the image of a wild, dysfunctional place, which lives one-step away from utter disaster that only Western technocrats can rescue them. He points out that the Sahelian desertification narrative came out of the fact that Western observers were looking for the next African disaster, which they can come and solve. His prescription, to look at individual situations to find solutions embedded in local dynamics and to put aside the disaster narratives could be fruitfully followed in looking at issues in the Sahel (E. M. Roe 1995).

SAHELIAN AGRICULTURE AND THE WIDER SUB-SAHARAN AFRICAN CONTEXT

Sachs (2008) describes 'The African Green Revolution', where he lays out two possible futures for the continent. He points out that the average grain yield per hectare/year in Sub-Saharan Africa is one ton, while many of the low-income countries that experienced the 'Green Revolution'⁷ see yields of approximately three times that figure. Like many population optimists, Professor Sachs says that these technological and human ingenuity solutions were responsible for

⁷ The Green Revolution: is also referred to as the 'Third Agricultural Revolution', was a series of agricultural technology breakthroughs from the early 50s until the late 60s, which were transferred to the developing world and caused a large increase in crop production.

the escape from the positive Malthusian break on population, in this case potential starvation (Sachs 2008).

Sachs has been very vocal about the possibility of a positive Malthusian breaks on Sub-Saharan African population if population growth continues at the same rate (Sachs 2007). In this short article, he writes on a similar theme, which I will quote in full:

"Africa's vulnerability to food insecurity has skyrocketed. The population has out stripped the food supply. Climate change is already wreaking havoc on crop yields. Depletion of soil nutrients has reached crisis proportions. Soaring world food prices have put a crippling burden on Africa as a net food importer. This way lies disaster." (Sachs 2008).

However, Sachs (2008) claims that a 'Green Revolution' can be that answer to this Malthusian trap, and hence human ingenuity can be the way forward to a very different future for the continent. Boserup (1965) claims that a move to higher agricultural output and technological/organizational development is driven by expanding population. She looked at the history of agricultural development showing that population growth is the major driver of agricultural change. Her theory would account for why the 'Green Revolution' occurred in the population dense countries of South Asia and the Far East and would suggest that the African agricultural revolution will occur as different societies reach their ⁸agricultural carrying capacity (Boserup 1965).

⁸ Note that Boserup uses the term carrying capacity in a very different way from Ehrlich. For her the agricultural carrying capacity is the amount of food produced under an agricultural technology regime, and when reached because of expanding population can produce the transition to a new technological regime.

Boserup (1965) challenges Malthus by saying that population growth drives agricultural development and behavior change. She stated that population growth pushes agricultural from use of the extensive margin to more intensive modern farming methods. As stated above, modern intensive farming methods required workers that are more skilled and hence change the parameters of the quantity/quality trade-off (Becker & Lewis 1973).

ADAPTING TO CLIMATE CHANGE-THE AFRICAN CONTEXT

Despite the large body of literature that frames the effect of climate change on Africa in terms of a Malthusian break on the population, many papers document adaption to climate change in the Sub-Saharan African context. Ghana, Nti and Barkley (2012) look at the different factors that equip farmers to adapt to changing weather conditions, citing higher human capital as the main driver of ability to adapt. Fosu-Mensah et al. (2010) look at how farmers are perceiving and reacting to climate change in Ghana by a mixture of crop diversification, short season varieties, changes in crop species and moving planting dates.

Turning to Chad, there is also a body of literature that documents the adaption that has happened in there due to changing weather conditions. There are studies on the growth of recession agriculture, as an adaption to the shrinking of Lake Chad that challenge the Neo-Malthusian idea that conflict in Soudanian Chad was driven by climate change, population growth and land pressure, by showing that the conflicts were caused by the influx of herders from central regions driven by government policy (Magrin 1996; Raimond 1999; Sougnabe 2013). Despite the large amount of literature about the negative elements of Lake Chad's shrinkage, Magrin et al (2010) show that the creation of strong market and communication links between the Lake area and the Capital N'Djamena have led to benefits at both ends. Choukou et al (2017) looks at the development of recession maize farming in the Sahelian Kanem Oasis and show how the presence of strong microcredit structures have helped agricultural development.

Chad Background

This dissertation focuses on Chad in Sahelian Africa. Chad is a unique country, with dynamics that are different from many other Sub-Saharan countries and even from its Sahelian neighbors. This lengthy Chad background gives a sense of Chad's singular history, as well as some of the deep structural and geographic problems it faces.

Chad is a landlocked country bordered by Sudan, Central African Republic, Cameroon, Nigeria, Niger and Libya. Chad has a history of war and a legacy of slavery before the arrival of the French, a violent and exploitative colonial period, and an unstable and conflict-ridden postindependence history. It stands in the center of two traditional African fault lines; the Islamic/non-Islamic and the Arab/non-Arab. These factors have led to a battle to develop a stable and sustainable state and society, leading to Chad being in the top ten of the Fragile States Index since 2005 (FFP 2019). In addition to this, its position at the center of the African continent and large Sahelian area make it vulnerable to some of the extreme effects of climate change globally (Abidoye & Odusola 2015). Chad has suffered from extreme effects of climate change since the 1960s. Due to its Central African position, and hence the 'Continental effect'⁹ exacerbating the normal pace of African climate change, Chad has warmed by 2.64 degrees Celsius since the late 1960's (Abidoye & Odusola, 2015). The warming has been clearly documented, but the effect of changing weather patterns on precipitation patterns is not so clear as Chad has suffered from increased drought, floods and changes in the onset of the rainy season since the early 70's and getting worse since the late 90's (Potts et al 2015).

Chad's demographic growth can be analyzed with comparison to the larger Sub-Saharan African context, or even more fruitfully with the Sahelian and particularly, Western Sahelian context. There is a large strand of demographic literature on what has been termed 'Sub-Saharan African exceptionalism'. This concentrates on the different nature of the fertility transition in Sub-Saharan Africa, relative to Asia or Latin America (Casterline et al 2010; Bongaerts & Casterline 2013). Demographic observers state that Sub-Saharan Africa started from a higher pre-transition fertility rate, and the transition to a replacement level fertility¹⁰ has only been reached in a select group of countries (Guengant & May 2013; Casterline & Agyei-Mensah 2017). Many point out that Sub-Saharan Africa, especially Central and Western Africa is exceptional for its desire for extremely high family sizes, that has not shifted despite many attempts at government and NGO interventions (Bledsoe 2002; Casterline & Agyei-Mensah 2017). Where demographers have seen sharper falls in the total fertility rate, it has normally been in the context of rapid urbanization

⁹ The continental effect is a phenomenon observed by climatologists, whereby the center of a continental land mass warms faster than its coastal edges.

¹⁰ Replacement level fertility' is an amount of children per women that leads to a zero-population growth rate. It is roughly 2.1 children per woman.

(Galor 2005; Henderson et al 2017). This is related to higher expenditure on education, and hence a quantity-quality trade-off (Guinnane 2011; Fluckiger & Ludwig 2017).

The Sahelian countries of Africa are some of the fastest growing in the world. Chad has a Total Fertility Rate (TFR) of 5.95, high but dwarfed by its neighbor Niger with at TFR of 7.24 (World Bank 2016). Sudan's TFR is 4.53, Mauritania's TFR is 4.67, Mali's TFR is 6.06, Burkina Faso's TFR is 5.35 and Senegal's is 4.77 (World Bank 2016). These are very high figures in comparison with the world's TFR of just below 2.5 and even the African continent's at 4.1 (World Bank 2018).

A TFR of 5.95 leads to a population growth rate of 3.3% which means that Chad's current population of 16,268,459 would double in less than 22 years if we assume that this rate remains constant. Though Chad is the 22nd largest country (in terms of land area) on earth and three times the size of the US State of California, many observers point to the largely Saharan North and arid Sahelian Center as reasons for the unsustainability of its population growth.

I am also interested in what any drop-in fertility could do to Chad's future demographic projections. To this end, I use the demographic parameters advanced in the extensive overview of Chad's past, present and future demographic trends released in October 2013-'Population, développement et dividende démographique au Tchad' ('Population, Development and demographic dividend in Chad'). The authors have two hypotheses for Chad's future demographic growth. the high hypothesis and the low hypothesis. The high and low hypotheses: These are forwarded by Guengant & Guealbaye (2013) and describe two potential Chadian demographic futures. The high hypothesis is a 'business as usual' scenario, where with little government effort the population growth rate remains constant and there is no enjoyment of the 'demographic dividend. In the low hypothesis, there is large scale government intervention and a larger fall in the population growth rate, leading to the enjoyment of a small 'demographic dividend' by the mid-21st Century. They say that to reach the low hypothesis, there must be a more active and societal will to bring down the growth of population in Chad. Moreover, the authors say that Chad will only experience a demographic dividend under the low hypothesis, and then only a partial one (Guengant & Guealbaye 2013).

This dissertation looks at how Chad's changing weather patterns affect Chad's demographic trajectory. Guengant and Guealbaye (2013) do not factor in changing weather patterns in their report. Will rising heat in Chad cause a rise in fertility and hence push Chad's demographic future to the high hypothesis? Or will the effect of rising heat cause a drop in fertility and push Chad towards the low hypothesis.

Historical background

The history of Chad can be divided into four different periods: the pre-historic ¹¹ cradle of humanity' period, the years of the advance of Islam and Arab penetration in the region which

¹¹ Pre-historic Chad is famous because of the discovery of the oldest hominid skull in the Northern Area of Borkou in 2002. Researchers see it as one of the early 'Cradles of Civilization' as it would have had much wetter climatological conditions in the period around seven thousand BC (Collier 1990).

was an ¹²age of various empires, the period of French direct colonial rule and finally postindependence Chad.

By 1905, most of Chad became part of French Equatorial Africa, a colony that included modernday the Republic of Congo, Gabon, the Central African Republic and Chad. France perceived this as less profitable than its other Sub-Saharan African colony of French West Africa. Therefore, it was ruled from Brazzaville on the Atlantic coast, and the French government allowed exploitative and extractive companies to rule areas of Chad with little thought of development beyond pure economic gain (Collier 1990).

The French government only pacified the Sahelian center of Chad by 1924 and probably never more than nominally ruled Saharan Northern Chad. However, they perceived areas of Southern Chad to be suitable for the growing of cotton and hence called it 'Le Tchad Utile' (useful Chad). As the cotton industry was France's major economic activity in Chad, they invested more

¹² The period between 900 AD and 1850 AD was an Age of Empires, as different powers fought over the strategic waters of Lake Chad and the riches of the African slave trade. One of Central Africa's most long-lasting empires, the Kanem Empire rose in the beginning of the second millennium AD. The Empire was formed from a confederation of nomadic groups and embraced Islam as early as the 10th Century AD. The Kanem Empire based in modern day Central Sahelian Chad, prospered through control of the Trans-Saharan trade routes. Another major source of prosperity was regular slave raiding against southern people groups and subsequent trade with the Arab world; this has had a long-term negative effect on North-South relations in Chad. By the 15th Century, the Kanem Empire started to weaken and merged with the rising Borno Empire based to the southwest of Lake Chad. The Kanem-Borno Empire finally fell in the 19th Century, as Fulani groups from present day Niger and Arab invaders from the North and East threatened it (Collier 1990).

Throughout the pre-colonial era other empires arose. The Baguirmi Empire, based to the southeast of Borno, expanded aggressively to the south at its height. The Wadai Empire was an offshoot of the Fur Sultanate, based in modern day Darfur. It arose to eventually conquer the Baguirmi Empire and attack Borno. However, by the start of the French military presence in Chad it was not a significant enough power to lead resistance against them (Collier 1990).

Initially, the remnant of the Wadai Empire resisted the French presence, but what was left of the Borno and Baguirmi empires saw the European presence as a counterbalance to Wadai power (Collier 1990).

heavily in the South and it became more connected with the French language, the Christian religion, and links with France and French education (Collier 1990).

France's interest in Chad was weak, even when compared with their interest in the other areas of French Equatorial Africa. The colonial administration only ever ruled the south of the country effectively and handed over power in the North and the Eastern Sahel to local rulers (Collier 1990). This meant that post World War II the rising political parties were a Southern-Based, left wing group-the Chadian Progressive Party (Parti Progressiste Tchadien-PPT)-and a more conservative party based around Sahelian traditional Muslim rulers, the Chadian Democratic Union (Union Democratique Tchadien-UDT) (Collier 1990).

Chad achieved independence from France in August 1960, with the Chadian Progressive Party led by Southerner Francois Tombalbaye taking power. Tombalbaye faced a large array of problems when faced with the prospect of building a nation. Chad was/is a vast country that was highly ethnically and linguistically fractionalized, in 1960 it was highly impoverished with few known sources or revenue, and it had very little communication, educational or commercial infrastructure. Unsurprisingly, Tombalbaye's period of leadership from 1960-75 was marked by dictatorial rule, rebellion of the Muslim North of the country and Civil War (Collier 1990).

Tombalbaye gained control of the Chadian Progressive party because of his diplomatic and political skills but embarked on a program of repression of political opposition from the eve of independence. The President moved against the former leader of the party, Gabriel Lisette one week before independence, declaring him a non-citizen and banishing him from the country. In the next few years, he concentrated on centralizing power in his hands and leaning on his own Sara ethnic group to retain power (Collier 1990).

The President's policy of 'Africanization' of the Chadian civil service was successful in replacing French colonial administrators with a new group of educated Chadians. However, because most educated Chadians at independence were from the South and had Sara ethnicity, they were perceived by those in the Muslim North and Center as nearly as foreign as the French. Furthermore, as they lacked experience, especially lacking cultural understanding of the Muslim Sahel and Saharan regions, they created a lot of regional resentment (Collier 1990).

Historians often see the start of the first Chadian Civil War, as an anti-taxation riot on November 1st, 1965 centered in Mangalme in Guera in the Southern Central Sahel region of Chad (Buijtenhuijs 1978). This left over five hundred people dead, and many Central and Northern Chadian groups saw it as violent government repression. In June 1966, the National Liberation Front of Chad (Front du Liberation Nationale de Tchad-FROLINAT) was founded in Nyala, North-Western Sudan. The Civil War gained momentum slowly, and by 1969 the government had little authority outside the major garrison towns of the North and Center (Collier 1990). In 1969, Tombalbaye took the very unpopular step of calling in French forces to back up Chadian government troops. The French, backed by elements of Chadian civil society pressured the President into enacting various reforms that gave more power to traditional rulers, rationalized the tax system and reversed some of the worst excesses of government repression. These reforms, coupled with French military training and expertise significantly reduced the rebellion, and the French forces left by 1971 (Collier 1990). After the French withdrawal, the President intensified his efforts at repression when claiming to discover a Libyan plot to remove him from power. This pushed Libya's leader Colonel Muammar Al-Gaddafi to recognize FROLINAT and provide a base for it in the Southern Libyan Sahara. Open Libyan support significantly strengthened FROLINAT, though it remained weak due to ethnic fractionalization (Collier 1990).

The Libyan intervention pushed Tombalbaye to take a new stance to win support in the North and Center and changed his largely Francophile image to an anti-colonial, pro Africanist stance. This won support for his regime in Sudan and Libya but alienated other sections of the Southern Chadian elites. His last power basis was the Chadian army, which he turned on in early 1975. On April 13th, 1975 he was removed from power and killed by a military coup led by junior army officers (Collier 1990).

The fall of Chad's president ushered in a long period of instability and Civil War. Felix Malloum, a Southerner, led the new military government that included more Muslims from the North and East of Chad. However, it was still widely perceived as a Southern based regime. Although it relaxed the level of repression from the Tombalbaye era, it quickly ran into problems due to an expectant urban civil society and the remaining elements of FROLINAT, especially those that had reformed as the Armed Forces of the North (Conseil de Commandement des Forces Armees du Nord-CCFAN) led by Goukouni Oueddei (Collier 1990). The military weakness of Felix Malloum's government created an unstable situation where there were three centers of Chadian power supported by different foreign powers. The ex-FROLINAT elements divided themselves between the Libyan-backed forces of Gououni Oueddei, and the Sudanese supported forces under Hissen Habre. The two ex-FROLINAT groups, both from different sub-tribes of the Northern Toubou ethnicity competed with Malloum's French-backed government. In 1978 Habre formed a unity government with Malloum, which provoked open military confrontation with Oueddei's CCFAN. By 1979, Habre took over the unity government and Southerners fled the capital as Habre's and Oueddei's forces fought over N'Djamena (Collier 1990).

The fight over N'Djamena led to a period of increased fractionalization, and numerous attempts to broker peace between the numerous powers by Chad's African neighbors. At the heart of the conflict was the rivalry between Habre and Oueddei, and by 1982 Habre took power, forcing Oueddei into exile in Cameroon (Collier 1990).

Hissene Habre held power in Chad from 1982 until Chad's current president Idriss Deby, one of Habre's generals of Zaghawa ethnicity, deposed him in 1990. Habre's rule was marked by major Libyan intervention in Chad, continued civil war and brutal repression of any opposition to Habre's rule. It was also marked by major conflict between three of Chad's Muslim tribal groups; the Hadjerai, the Gorane (Habre's ethnicity) and the Zaghawa (Deby's ethnicity) (Collier 1990). Idriss Deby's rule has seen the stabilization and growth of the Chadian state, and the strengthening of the Chadian Army, that has been helped by the growth of oil revenue since 2002. There was a second Chadian Civil War in Eastern Chad from 2005-2010, which was a spillover from the war in the neighboring Sudanese state of Darfur. This was coupled with Chad's involvement with the Nigerian originated Boko Haram insurgency around the Lake Chad area since 2012. However, relative to previous Chadian governments, Idriss Deby's rule has seen Chad develop into a more stable nation, with a (modestly) growing gross domestic product and human development index (Marchal 2016).

Geographical background



¹³Map 2: Chad regions

Chad is a landlocked country towards the north of the center of the African continent. It is surrounded by Sudan, the Central African Republic, Cameroon, Nigeria, Niger and Libya. Chad

¹³ The Northern Regions of Tibesti, Borkou and Ennedi are the Sahara zone. Kanem, Bahr El Gazel, Batha, Wadi Fira, Lac, Hadjer-Lamis, Guera, Ouaddai, Dar Sila, Salamat and Chari-Baguirmi are the Sahel zone. Mayo Kebbi Est, Mayo Kebbi Ouest, Tandjile, Mandoul, Moyen-Chari, Logone Occidental and Logone Oriental are the Soudan zone.

covers 1 284 000 kilometers squared and is the fifth largest country in Africa (Inseed 2013). It lies fully between the Equator and the Tropic of Cancer, though the Tropic of Cancer touches the Northern part of Chad at one point.

The Sahelian nation lies within the Lake Chad Basin and is named after the Lake, which is the second largest in West Africa and one of the continent's most significant wetlands. Lake Chad covered 25 000 square kilometers in 1963, but now covers 1 350 square kilometers. The Lake is fed by the Chari and Logone rivers, which rise in the Central African Republic (Collier 1990).

It has three geographical zones that have different climatological patterns, which I will describe later. The sparsely populated Northern area is situated in the Saharan desert with an associated lack of rainfall and green vegetation. The central Sahelian zone has areas of grassy shrub land and thorny, open savanna. The southern, Soudanian zone is the more fertile area of Chad and consists of woodland savanna as well as deciduous forests full of vegetation (Collier 1990).

Chad is largely a flat country but rises as it moves North and East away from Lake Chad. The highest point Emi Koussi is 3 100 meters and is part of the Tibesti mountains in the northern Saharan zone. Chad's eastern border with the Sudanese province of Darfur is marked by the Ouaddian Highlands and there are also some highlands in the central Sahelian province of Guera that rise to 1 500 meters (Collier 1990).

Climatological background

Chad has three major climatic zones that correspond to the geographical zones described above. The northern half of Chad is the Saharan zone that is marked by very low rainfall; this can be between 0 and 60 millimeters a year. The mean daily maximum temperature ranges from 32 degrees Celsius in January to 45 degrees in May (Pattyanak et al 2019).



Map 3: Map of Chad showing the Sahara, Sahel and the Soudan.

The majority of Chad is situated in the Sahelian¹⁴ climate zone. This semi-arid region separates the Sahara Desert from the greener Soudanese Africa to the south. Chad's Sahel zone has an average rainfall of 600 millimeters, though this varies across the zone. The Sahelian rainy season

¹⁴ The word Sahel, like Sahara and Soudan, are originally Arabic terms. Sahara means desert in Arabic, Sahel means coast or shore (i.e. the shore of the desert), and Soudan is derived from the Arabic word for black, so signifies 'where the blacks are'.

is from June to early September and the dry season is from October to May (Pattyanak et al 2019).

The south of Chad is more fertile, it is classed as Tropical Savannah (Koppen 2011). It has more rainfall than Chad's Sahelian zone, with yearly rainfall of over 900mm. This allows it to be the center of Chadian agriculture with a long history of cash crop growth, particularly cotton (Collier 1990).

The effect of climate change on Chad takes place within the wider context of African and especially Sahelian ¹⁵climate change. Chad is the largest country in the Western and Central Sahel, and the West African Monsoon, moisture carried from the Mediterranean zone and its interaction with the Intertropical Convergence Zone influences its climate (Maharana et al 2017). Due to its situation at the center of the African continent, it is subject to a higher rate of warming because of the continental effect (Winnick et al 2014).

The temperature of the African continent has risen; 2016 was 1.1 degrees Celsius above the preindustrial era (World Meteorological Society 2017). This is in excess of the general global temperature rise of 0.75 (figure in 2007) degrees Celsius since the pre-industrial era (Trenberth et al 2007, IPCC 2007).

¹⁵ Climate change: The earth's surface temperature has risen by 0.9 degrees Centigrade since the late 19th Century, and most of this warming has occurred in the last 35 years. There is a large scientific consensus that this warming is due to the buildup of Carbon Dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere (IPCC 2019).

This dissertation looks at the effects of changing weather patterns on fertility, and we assume that changing weather mean rising temperatures in the Chadian context. In Chad, the pattern of temperature rise is clear over the different regions. All the cities studied by Pattyanak et al. (2019) have seen significant rises in temperature by decade since 1950. These warming trends have intensified since 1980-85 (Maharana et al., 2018; Pattyanak et al., 2019). This warming has been generally been more intense in the Sahel region, but more focused on the East of Chad (Maharana et al., 2018). Indeed, Abeche (on the Eastern border with Sudan) has seen a rise of 0.42 degrees Celsius per decade, which is double the other Sahelian cities of Ati and Mongo (Pattyanak et al., 2019).

However, though there is a clear warming trend across the continent, there are different regional patterns in relation to rainfall patterns (Pattayanak 2019). In West Africa/the Sahel, there has been a clear pattern of declining precipitation since the high of the 1950s (Trenberth et al., 2007).

Common across much of the Sahel, Chad has had three distinct rainfall regimes since 1950. The wetter than the mean period (1950-1965), then the dryer than the mean period (1966-1990) that caused worldwide focus on the Sahel region and then the recovery period (1991-2014) that has seen rainfall rise but not to the levels prior to the dry period (Pattnayak et al., 2019). This leads to a generally significant lowering of rainfall since the 1950s, even when accounting for the recovery period (Maharana et al., 2017).
The Chadian ¹⁶rainy season of June, July and August coincides with its hottest months. Because the majority of rainfall occurs in these months and these are the hottest months, climate studies concentrate on the changes in these months (Caminade & Terray, 2009; Pattnayak et al., 2017; Maharana et al. 2018). Researchers have noticed significant changes in the intensity of Chadian rainfall in the monsoon months of June, July and August, but not in the other months of the year (Neill et al., 2005; E.Nkiaka et al., 2017).

Chad's economy

Chad-when it gained independence from France in 1960-was still largely a traditional subsistence economy. There was a very small industrial sector based on production for the agricultural sector, and at independence, there was no mining of natural resources. Furthermore, there was a very sparse transport and communication network and independent Chad had very few trained technicians and administrators (Collier 1990).

Cotton was the major agricultural export, which the French had developed since 1920's. This was the major source of government income, until the large-scale exportation of oil in the early

¹⁶ These historical rainfall patterns are different in Chad's different climatological zones. Interestingly, the Saharan zone has seen a non-significant rise in rainfall since 1950, but this is starting from a very low level of rainfall. The Sahel zone has seen a lowering of rainfall, but often statistically insignificant even at the 10% level (Pattyanak et al., 2019). For example, Abeche the capital of Ouaddai region in Eastern Chad that borders Sudan's Darfur region has seen a rainfall reduction of 8mm per decade (Pattyanak et al., 2019). This is higher than the Central Chadian town of Ati (0.9mm per decade), but both cities are targeted by researchers as central to the climate change and conflict narrative, hence their lack of significant reduction in rainfall is surprising.

A consistently significant decadal drop in rainfall since 1950 has occurred in the South of Chad (Pattyanak et al., 2019). The tropical Soudanese Savannah zone, represented by the cities of Lere and Sarh has seen significant drops in rainfall since 1950, though the significance is at the 10% level (Pattyanak et al., 2019). The city of Moundou in Logone Occidental, which is in the Guinea-Congolian region of Chad, has witnessed a significant fall in rainfall at the 5% level.

2000s. Most of Chad's exports as well as most of its internal industrial processes were cotton related. Industrial processes included ginning raw cotton to export quality, spinning and weaving and producing edible cottonseed oil for local production. This has made the Chadian economy dependent on world cotton prices that were good (despite swings) up to the mid-eighties and then fell steeply in 1985. This crippled the Chadian cotton industry (and government revenues), and the industry only survived through a World Bank and foreign donor driven restructuring program (Collier 1990).

The rest of Chadian agriculture was/is mostly subsistence growth of cereals including sorghum, millet and berbere. These cereals mix with smaller scale growth of tubers, wheat (in the Lake Chad area) and some rice in the South. There is also large-scale meat production, usually as a pastoral aside in the Soudanian South and as the focus of semi-sedentary farmers in the Sahel. Bovine and ovine rearing is deeply embedded in Chadian culture, and there is export of 'on the hoof' animals to Sudan, Cameroon and Nigeria. However, this is not often recorded in official GDP, as state-run attempts to industrialize the process through abattoirs and meat-packing facilities have not proved successful. Finally, due to Chad's access to the Lake that bears its name and the Chari and Logone there is a large culture of subsistence fishing. Like the livestock, there is an outside market for dried fish, which are transported to the markets of Madhiguri Nigeria, but again this trade is largely unofficial (Collier 1990).

Initially, Chad was only mining sodium carbonate from Lake Chad and some wadis (river valleys) in the Kanem region. There are also small deposits of bauxite, quartz and uranium, but not enough to have any serious effect on GDP. Chad discovered small deposits of oil in 1970

North of Lake Chad, and an Exxon-led consortium discovered a much bigger field in Southern Chad in 1985. Due to the ongoing instability and low world oil prices, export of Chadian oil only started in 2002. The rise of Chad as an oil-producing nation caused a significant rise in GDP between 2002 and 2010, which has helped President Idris Deby create a strong Chadian state and military. However, many see Chad as a classic example of the 'resource curse' as very little of the oil revenue has focused on development and in 2006 the World Bank closed Chad's oilrevenue account, citing the lack of development use of the revenues (Marchal 2016).

The lack of transport networks in Chad contribute to its lack of internally functioning markets and ability to export goods efficiently. Chad suffers from its lack of access to the sea; Doula in Cameroon is the closest port to N'Djamena at 1700 kilometers. Chad also suffers from lack of all-weather roads. After the instability of the 1980s, there was no record of any paved highways in Chad. The country had only 1260 kilometers of all-weather roads, and hence most of the Chadian internal transport system was impassable in the rainy season. In 2018, despite many efforts by international donors, only 500 kilometers of Chad's 34000 kilometers of roads are paved. Chad has 58 airports, nine of which have paved runways and there is no Chadian rail system (Collier 1990).

By 1990, Chad's system of communication was one of the least developed in Africa. Up until the early 1990s, there was no postal service outside the capital and only a telephone service between the capital and some regional capitals. Radio has been the most robust system of communication in the country up to the mid-2000s, with one in every five Chadians owing a radio in 1997. Mobile phones are creating a communications revolution across Chad with 4.2 million users (one

third of the population) in 2012. Though this mobile boom has not extended online, as in 2012, only 2.1% of the population were documented internet users (Collier 1990; Jean-Richard et al 2014).

Chad's currency is the Central African ¹⁷CFA franc, which is also the currency of the Central African Republic, Cameroon, the Republic of the Congo, Equatorial Guinea and Gabon. There are two CFA zones, the Central African and West African which roughly (the ex-Spanish colony of Equatorial Guinea joined the Central African zone, and the ex-Portuguese colony of Guinea-Bissau is a member of the West African zone) correspond to the areas of French colonial Equatorial Africa and French West Africa. Both CFAs were convertible to the French Franc and are now convertible to the Euro at a fixed rate (Collier 1990; Zafar 2005).

Overall, Chad has a very weak economy; with a GDP per capita of \$874. Furthermore, oil revenues dominate this GDP figure, which have only enriched a small section of Chadian society. Based on the United Nation's development index, Chad is the seventh poorest country on earth, which demonstrates the lack of human development resulting from Chad's discovery and exploitation of its oil resources (Marchal 2016).

¹⁷ Since independence, the Bank of Central African States or BEAC (Banqur des Etats L'Afrique Centrale) has decided Chad's macroeconomic policy. This is located in Yaoundé, the capital of Cameroon since 1972 and replaced a similar body, also based in Yaoundé. The Central African CFA became the currency of colonial French Equatorial Africa in 1945 and remained the currency of the individual states after independence. The CFA with its history embedded in French Colonialism, is often criticized as a tool of Neo-Colonialism and counter-productive to the individual growth of the States. However, other writers point to the inflationary stability that the CFA brings to the Central African states (Saviddes 1998).

Chad's politics

Modern-day Chad was officially designated as within the French sphere of influence at the Berlin Conference of 1884. Chad was part of French Equatorial Africa, which comprised of the modern-day states of Congo-Brazzaville, Gabon, the Central African Republic and Chad. Chad typifies the negative effect of arbitrarily creating a nation-state without thought to the organic cultural, linguistic, tribal or religious make-up of the country. The post-independence history of Chad can be seen as an attempt to build the structure of a modern nation state's centralized government on an established system of tribal, regional and local governance (Collier 1990).

Though initially ruling as the head of a parliamentary democracy at independence, President Tombalbaye quickly transformed Chad into a despotic, single-party ruler. Subsequent rulers have continued that pattern, except for President Hissen Habre who was a skilled diplomat and politician. Attempts at elections and the creation of a more open culture, have usually been on a surface level to assuage French or other international concerns (Collier 1990).

President Idriss Deby came to power in 1990, as head of Patriotic Salvation Movement (Mouvement patriotique du Salut-MPS) and a member of the Bidyat clan of the Zaghawa ethnic group. He has survived various insurrections against his presidency and won the 1996 and 2001 elections. President Deby successfully managed to overturn the term limits that prevented him from continuing as President, leading to his election victories of 2006, 2011 and 2019. He is now one of Africa's longest servant leaders, has created a strong centralized state, and by building up a strong military has managed to project Chadian power into Sudan, the Central African Republic and the Western Sahel (Tisseron 2015, Marchal 2016). Within the period of Deby's presidency, there have been several changes to Chad's regional and sub-regional structure. At Independence Chad was sub-divided into fourteen Prefectures; Batha, Biltine, Borkou-Ennedi-Tibesti, Chari-Baguirmi, Guera, Kanem, Lac, Logone Occidental, Logone Oriental, Mayo-Kebbi, Moyen-Chari, Ouaddai, Salamat and Tandjile. In 1999 the regional structure changed and there were twenty-eight departments that were further sub-divided into sixty-one sub-prefectures. In 2002 Chad was officially divided into regions, initially sixteen and then thirty-one and now the twenty-four that we will define later in our data section.

Chad's future

Idriss Deby's presidency has brought relative stability to Chad and it is rising as a regional military power. However, President Deby's power is largely due to the creation of a strong and repressive state and Chad's human, institutional, economic and educational development negatively compares with most African states (Marchal 2016). The figures on various international indices are largely negative; Fund for Peace's Fragile States Index consistently ranks Chad in the ten most fragile states on earth. Furthermore, Transparency International Corruption Perceptions Index named Chad as the most corrupt state on earth in 2005 and regularly is in the top ten and as stated, Chad is in the cohort of the poorest states on earth (Transparency International 2013).

This dissertation extends the weather and fertility literature, by looking at the effects of rising heat on the birth rate, rather than the effects of extreme weather events. This paper is also a micro-based analysis within the larger area of the population/climate change link, especially as it focuses on the African Sahel. Furthermore, with its concentration on the under-researched

country of Chad, this dissertation uses the different climatological zones of Chad to answer questions on the weather fertility interaction that have implications for Chad itself, as well as the wider African Sahel region.

CHAPTER 3-RESEARCH QUESTION AND THEORY

Research Questions

This dissertation's primary question is "What is the relationship between changing weather patterns and human fertility in the Chadian context?" This question is the basis of the dissertation, and touches on the climate change population link, as well as the more specific question of how human fertility responds to changing weather patterns. In the Chadian context, changing weather patterns can be proxied by rising heat and I proxy rising heat by the marginal effect of an extra high heat day in a month.

My second research question is: "could the main effect of an extra high heat day on the birth rate caused by changes in crop yield and related changes in food security/insecurity?" This question looks at the route by which changing weather patterns affect human fertility and questions whether changing weather patterns affect crop yields and hence household fertility, due to economic/food security routes.

Thirdly, I ask: "are there health routes whereby an extra high heat day affects fertility?" As I discussed in the literature section, there are many routes by which the changing weather/fertility relationship can be driven by health.

Becker And Demand For Children

I analyze the determinants of the demand for children at an individual rural household level, and hypothesize how higher temperatures would affect this demand. I model the demand for children, consistent with Becker and extend the model to consider the impact of weather on a rural, Chadian community (Becker 1991). I assume that number of children (N) and consumption of other household goods (G) are choice variables. I also assume that individual health (\overline{H}) is a factor in household utility, and I assume that is affected by changing weather patterns (C). Household utility is modeled as a function of the number of children N, and consumption of other goods, G, where $\partial U/\partial N$, and $\partial U/\partial G > 0$, as household members receive utility from having children and consumption of goods. There is also health (\overline{H}), where $\partial U/\partial \overline{H} > 0$, as increased household health increases utility. Note that household health (\overline{H}) is a non-choice variable, as this is a static model we treat health as an exogenous stock variable, so although an individual cannot change her current realization of health stock, she derives utility from it.

1)
$$U_{N,G} = U(N,G;\bar{H}(C))$$

Health (\overline{H}) represents individual cumulative health stock, and though this is influenced by other factors, in this model I am only interested in the effect of rising heat on health. The parameter C is a general changing weather parameter that I assume to be rising heat as we are dealing with the Chadian context (and proxy for rising heat with the marginal effect of another high heat day in a month). I assume a negative relationship between changing weather patterns (C) and individual health (\overline{H}). This is a strong assumption, but I proxy changing weather patterns through rising heat, which makes this an appropriate assumption. I assume that would have a negative effect on health because Chad has an arid climate, and any rise in heat would increase water constraints and have a negative effect on the disease environment (Ward et al, 1999). Therefore $\partial H/\partial C < 0$.

[KV1]

The utility function is subject to an income constraint, which has been reduced to isolate those factors influenced by changing weather patterns (C). I assume the household income (I) is negatively constrained by expenditure on number of children (N), and the consumption of other household goods. Income is positively affected by crop yield (Y). Thus $\partial I/\partial Y > 0$ as a rise in crop yield would raise household income.

Both household health (\overline{H}) and household crop yield (Y) are influenced by changing weather patterns (C). As we have already stated $\partial H/\partial C < 0$, due to the effect of rising heat on Chad's already arid environment. The sign of $\partial Y/\partial C^{18}$ is ambiguous, it depends on the area of Chad we are looking at and the original mean temperature of that area.

2) $I(Y(C)) = P^N N + P^G G$

This constrained optimization problem yields the Marshallian demand for number of children (N) and other goods (N). Specifically:

¹⁸ We test the sign of this derivative in econometric models (2), millet yield and (3), sorghum yield.

3)
$$N = f(P^N, P^G, H(C), I, Y(C)))$$

and

4)
$$G = g(P^N, P^G, H(C), I(Y(C)))$$

Moving towards my empirical estimation of fertility rate, total differentiation of (5) yields:

5)
$$dN = f_{p_N} dp_N + f_{p_G} dp_G + f_H H_C dC + f_I I_Y Y_C dC$$

Equation (5) shows that the change in the number of children (dN), is a function of: the changes in the cost of an additional child and other goods $(f_{p_N}dp_N + f_{p_G}dp_G)$; the household health function's interaction with the effect of rising heat on health, times the change in weather patterns $(f_H H_C dC)$; t; and the household income function's interaction with the effect of yield on income, times the effect of rising heat on yield, times the change in weather patterns $(f_I I_Y Y_C dC)$.

Holding prices constant yields:

$$6) \quad dN = f_H H_C dC + f_I I_Y Y_C dC$$

This shows that there are two routes where change in weather patterns (dC), can affect change in number of births (dN).

Firstly, there is the direct effect of change in weather patterns on household health.

$$f_H H_C dC$$

For this model, I assume that changing weather patterns (dC), are rising heat. I have already stated that the effect of rising heat on household health (H_C) is negative. So overall, I want to test that the direct health effect of rising heat on the amount of births in a household (dN) is negative. This route would be through a rise in the number of miscarriages due to heat (but not due to malnutrition), reduced spermatogenesis due to heat or decreased sexual activity due to heat.

The second route by which rising heat (dC) could affect the number of children (dN), is through the effect of rising heat on crop yield.

$f_I I_Y Y_C dC$

In this route, rising heat (dC) interacts with the effect of rising heat on yield (Y_C) , this then affects the household income function (f_I) , through the effect of crop yield on household income (I_Y) . This is a more intuitive path and could occur for several reasons. However-as I have already stated-the sign of Y_C (or dY/dC) is ambiguous and could be different, in different regions in Chad (or even within different regions). Therefore, the overall effect of this route of transmission is ambiguous. Rising heat is positive (dC), the effect of yield on income is positive (I_Y) , and the household income function is positive (f_I) . So the effect of rising heat on the number of children that a household has (dN), would be positive if the effect of rising heat on yield (Y_C) is positive and negative, if the sign is negative.

TESTABLE HYPOTHESES

$f_H H_C dC < 0$

This is the direct effect of rising heat on the number of children, through the pure health route and in the Chadian context I hypothesize that this would be negative. If dry/preparation season high heat days have a significant negative correlation with the birth rate, especially in the same year, then I can assume that this is the pure health effect. Moreover, if this is a pure health effect, I can assume that it happens in the high staple crop regions, as well as the lower staple-crop regions. I can also assume that this effect would be clearer in the already high-temperature, arid Sahel area, than in the more humid Soudan.

$$f_I I_Y Y_C dC < 0$$
 if Y_C is < 0 and > 0 if Y_C is > 0

This route-with its ambiguity with respect to the effect of rising heat on yield-is a simple test of Malthusian/Beckerian theory. Malthus said that a rise in household income would lead to a rise in fertility (Malthus 1791). If the models reveal that the effect of rising heat on yield is positive, and at the same time heat shocks in the planting or harvest season have a significant positive effect on the birth rate, this would be a confirmation that households treat additional children as normal goods (Becker 1991). Furthermore, if the effect of rising heat on yield is negative, and at the same time heat shocks in the planting or harvest season have a significant negative, and at the same time heat shocks in the planting or harvest season have a significant negative, and at the same time heat shocks in the planting or harvest season have a significant negative effect on the birth rate, this would further confirm my simple Beckerian model. This pattern should be

clearer in the high intensity staple crop areas, as their household decisions would be more closely tied with staple crop yield.

However, Malthus talked about larger-scale macro population trends, and my research looks at the individual household effects of changing weather on human fertility. Becker modelled demand for children and assumed that children were normal goods, hence when household income goes up, the desire to have children goes up (Becker 1981). By extension, if children are normal goods, then as income (in this case proxied by millet and sorghum yield) goes down, then the household will want to have less children.

CHAPTER 4-DATA AND METHODOLOGY SECTION

Recalling equation 3.6, where I hypothesize the relationship between changing weather patterns proxied by an extra high heat day in a month and the birth rate. In this section I describe how I build a dataset and propose an identification strategy that can estimate equation 3.6, and differentiate the different effects through which an extra high heat day can influence human fertility.

In order to test the relationship between weather and the human birth rate, I create a dataset that can map changing weather patterns to changes in fertility response and agricultural production is necessary. To construct this dataset, I use four sources of data. These are: fertility data and covariates from the 2014-15 Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) collected by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID); daily temperature from the Climate Prediction Center (CPC) at National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) National Weather Service; conflict data from the Uppsala Conflict Data Program from the University of Uppsala, Sweden; and agricultural data from the Department of Agricultural Engineering at the University of Lund, Sweden.

FERTILITY DATA AND COVARIATES

Our fertility data and many of our covariates are drawn from the 2014-15 Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) collected by the United Stated Agency for International Development (USAID). The survey sampled 17,719 women between the ages of 15 and 65 from 624 GIS coded clusters that represent the whole of Chad's population¹⁹.

Fertility Data

The 2014-15 DHS data includes self-reported reproductive histories for the 17,719 individual sample women, which I use to use to calculate the number of sample births by cluster, month and year. This leads to 135,539 cluster-month-year observations. I create a GIS cluster-specific birth panel by linking the self-reported year and month of birth of each sample woman's children to her GIS cluster. I then aggregate these births within each month, year and GIS cluster to generate the total number of births for each month and year in that GIS cluster, as represented by the sample. I exclude all births that occur before 1997 to account for the fact that older mothers are more likely to have systematically selected out of the cluster-specific sample due to death or migration.

In the first model, my dependent variable is the birth rate. In order to compare across the entire country where different clusters will have different amounts of fertile women, I standardize the variable by calculating the number of fertile women in each cluster by year. I then create a GIS cluster/month/year specific birth rate variable by dividing the number of births in a particular month of a year in a particular cluster, by number of women capable of giving birth in the sample by that year and GIS cluster:

¹⁹ Due to the vast geographical dispersion of parts of Chad's population, there is a need to use weighting to ensure equal cluster sample sizes.

$$BR_{imt} = \frac{Births_{it}}{Female_{it}},$$

where $Births_{imt}$ is the number of sample births recalled for cluster *i*, in month *m*, and year *t*. *Female_{it}* is the number of sample women of childbearing age for each cluster in year *t*. I define a woman as capable of giving birth if she is between the ages of 15 and 45 in that given year. Finally, BR_{it} is the cluster-month-year specific sample birth rate. As some clusters are overrepresented in our data, I also weight this birth rate variable by population probability weights. Finally, I take the natural log of this variable to use as our dependent variable in the fertility model.

HOUSEHOLD COVARIATES

From the DHS data I also generate cluster-specific characteristics based on the cluster-specific sample mean of that variable. One weakness is that these covariates, and partitioned data by covariate are the 2014-15 values. If they have changed from 1996 until 2015, my models would not pick this up.

For example, I use a control for whether a cluster is urban or rural, because I am interested in the results from rural Chad. However, these are the urban or rural clusters in 2014-2015, and it is safe to assume that there has been a process of urbanization since the 1990s (Guengant and Guealbaye 2013). Again, this would only be a problem if there were a much quicker rate of urbanization in one area in relation to another. A big part of urbanization in Chad is centered on

the capital N'Djamena, which I take out of the data due to its very different socio-economic and cultural dynamics (Guengant and Guealbaye 2013). Furthermore, I do not use the Northern Sahara zone in my regressions, because of its extreme climatic situation. Therefore, I can assume that urbanization happens at the same rate in the central Sahelian zone, as in the southern Soudanian zone. This assumption would mean that the process of urbanization since the mid-1990s would not create zonal bias within the data.

The covariates that I use are the cluster mean of that covariate in the original data. For example, if a cluster is majority urban it will be coded as an urban cluster, and if less than 50% urban it will be coded as non-urban.

High temperature days data

To achieve a deep granularity, I use a dataset that contains daily temperature observations-the Climate Prediction Center (CPC) at National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) National Weather Service Maximum daily global temperature data. I wanted to create a variable that would allow for correlations between the dependent variable of the natural log of the normalized monthly birth rate by cluster. Therefore, I created variables for the number of days above a certain temperature threshold by month and mapped them to the GIS clusters of the Chadian DHS data. I ran regressions with number of days above 23 degrees Celsius, up to days above 50 degrees Celsius and found that the range between 31-37 degrees Celsius had a more significant effect on the birth rate, which confirms literature on this subject (C. G Turvey 2001; Texeira et al 2011).

With the number of high-temperature days in a month, I can see the effect of the extremes of high temperature that changing weather patterns create. These extremes can affect the birth rate (or sorghum and millet yield) in a significant manner. Both the birthrate and crop yield can be affected by extreme temperature shocks, and hence the extreme temperature shocks can affect the birthrate through direct health channels (Richards 1983; Becker, Chowdhury, Leridon 1986; Lam, Miron 1996; Nielson 2016), as well as indirectly through economic/food security channels (Eloundou-Enyegue, Stokes & Cornwell 2000; Mckenzie 2003; Mckelvey, Thomas & Frankenberg 2012).

To create a seasonal variable based on three different parts of the Chadian agricultural year, I split the monthly high temperature days' data into the dry/preparation season, the

planting/growing season and the harvest season. I code the dry/preparation season as January, February and March; the planting/growing season as May, June, July and August and the harvest season as September, October, November and December. I create these variables by taking the mean number of high-temperature days across the months of each season.

Violence Data

Chad has a significant history of internal and external violence since its independence in 1960. This creates noise in the model. To control for this, I create a violence index drawn from the data from the Uppsala Conflict Data Program²⁰ maintained by the University of Uppsala, Sweden.

I create a violence index for each GIS cluster by dividing the number of fatalities in a conflict episode by the distance from the center of the DHS GIS cluster to the location of the conflict episode. I cut this off at 1000 km as I assume that such a distant conflict would have little effect on the relationship between weather and the fertility rate. The climate data, the fertility data, the violence data and the covariates are all linked by GIS location and so the regressions are accounting for fine spatial-level correlations. I then take the natural log of the violence index to create a control variable.

²⁰ The Uppsala Conflict Data Program scans media from all over the world to find reports of conflict incidents. This program started in the seventies and has refined its methodology. The database consists of a media report of a conflict, a GIS location of the conflict, and a range of the amount of fatalities in the conflict incident.

Agricultural Data

The agricultural data come from the department of Agricultural Engineering at the University of Lund (Nilsson & Cintia 2018). It comprises crop area, production per hectare, and crop yield for all the major Chadian crops: sorghum, millet, rice, wheat, maize and recession sorghum. The data is by each one of Chad's twenty-two regions and it is by year from 1983 to 2016. The University of Lund data was collected under a different regional structure to the Chad 2014-15 USAID DHS Survey so in six instances, what was one region in the Lund data became two in the USAID DHS data. ²¹

In exploring the relationship between high heat days and millet and sorghum yield-the difference in geographical scale is important to note. The climate data is by GIS location, while the agricultural data is by Chadian region. There are 626 GIS clusters in the DHS data, while there are only 20 Chadian regions in the University of Lund data. This means that the dependent variable lacks the same geographical granularity and temporal granularity, as there is only a single observation of yield across the year. The lack of temporal granularity is understandable, because there is only one staple crop harvest a year. However, the lack of yield data at a finer geographical granularity could be a problem. For example, some of the regions-especially with the mapping of an old larger region, to smaller region-are very large and potentially cross different climatic zones. This would mean that the effect of high temperature days could be

²¹ Kanem became Kanem and Bahr El Gazel; Chari-Baguirmi became Chari-Baguirmi and Hadjer-Lamis; Mayo-Kebbi became Mayo-Kebbi Est and Mayo-Kebbi Ouest; Moyen-Chari became Moyen-Chari and Mandoul; Ennedi became Ennedi Ouest and Ennedi Est; and finally, Ouaddai became Ouaddai and Sila. The structure of the 2014-15 DHS data allows us to map the old regions to the new regions, with a slight loss of granularity. Furthermore, all our other covariates are by a focused GIS location, while the agricultural data is by a larger region.

having different significant effects on different areas of the larger region, but are not picked up because they cancel each other out. Weather patterns can change over a large geographical region, and so any of our regression results will be an amalgamation of different amounts of high temperature days' correlation with the same yield results. This is problematic, and we are clearly losing something of the story, but this seems to be the best data that is available.

Table 1: Description of variables

Variable	Description of Variable
The natural log of the	The natural log of the normalized birth rate: this is the
normalized birth rate	cluster/year/month specific birth rate, normalized by placing the
	birthrate over the population of that cluster. I then take the natural log
	of this variable.
Millet yield (Kg/Ha)	Millet yield: this variable is the amount of millet production in
	kilograms per hectare. This is recorded by region (as opposed to
	cluster), so lacks the cluster-level granularity of the other cluster-level
	variables.

Sorghum yield (Kg/Ha)	Sorghum yield: this variable is the amount of sorghum production in
	kilograms per hectare. This is recorded by region (as opposed to
	cluster), so lacks the cluster-level granularity of the other cluster-level
	variables.
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in dry season: the
Celsius in dry/	dry/preparation season is each of the months of January, February and
preparation season	March and then averaged across those months.
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in planting season: the
Celsius in planting	planting season is each of the months of May, June, July and August and
season	then averaged across those months.
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in harvest season: the
Celsius in harvest	harvest season is each of the months of September, October, November
season	and December and then averaged across these months.
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in dry season with
Celsius in dry/	one-year lag: the dry/preparation season is each of the months of
preparation season	January, February and March and then averaged across these months.
with one-year lag	

Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in planting season
Celsius in planting	with one-year lag: the planting season is each of the months of May,
season with one-year	June, July and August and then averaged across these months.
lag	
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in harvest season with
Celsius in harvest	a one-year lag: the planting season is each of the months of September,
season with one-year	October, November and December and then averaged across these
lag	months.
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in dry season with
Celsius in dry/	two-year lag: the dry/preparation season is each of the months of
preparation season	January, February and March and then averaged across these months.
with two-year lag	
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in planting season
Celsius in planting	with two-year lag: the planting season is each of the months of May,
season with two-year	June, July and August and then averaged across these months.
lag	
Days above 31 degrees	Number of days greater than 31 degrees Celsius in harvest season with
Celsius in harvest	a two-year lag: the planting season is the months of September,
season with two-year	October, November and December and then averaged across these
lag	months.

Number of days above	The same pattern of variables for temperatures between 32-37 degrees
32-37 degrees Celsius	Celsius.
Millet area (Ha)	Millet area by hectare: this is the amount of area of millet production in
	a particular region. I use this as a control in the regressions using millet
	yield as the dependent variable.
Sorghum area (Ha)	Sorghum area by hectare: this is the amount of area of sorghum
	production in a particular region. I use this as a control in the
	regressions using sorghum yield as the dependent variable.
Region	Chadian geographical region: we use dummies for each of the twenty-
	one Chadian regions to control for geographical heterogeneity. Note
	that these twenty-one regions are different from the regional structure
	of the crop data by region and some of the smaller crop regions become
	one larger region.
Month	Calendar month: we use monthly dummies to control for within-year
	heterogeneity. This is very important, as we need to control for the
	yearly seasonal patterns of fertility.

Urban	Dummy variable on whether the region is primarily urban or rural: this					
	is a 1/0 variable that defines a cluster as primarily urban (1), or					
	primarily rural (0). I use this as a control variable because I am					
	interested in the correlations within a rural setting.					
Natural log of violence	The natural log of violence index: we created the violence index					
index	through mapping the location of violent incidents in Chad and their					
	level of mortality. I then create an index of the ratio between the					
	mortality number of each incident and each cluster's distance from the					
	violent incident. I then take the natural log of this index.					
Year	Calendar year: in the model with the natural log of birth rate as the					
	dependent variable, I use the data between 1997 and 2016 as that					
	ensures a balanced sample.					

	mean	sd	min	max
Log of birth rate	2.0	0.46	1.2	4.2
Sorghum yield	580.8	447.17	0.0	4888.7
(Kg/Ha)				
Sorghum area (Ha)	83901.7	70254.27	25.0	436332.0
Millet yield (Kg/Ha)	459.6	246.70	0.0	1092.0
Millet area (Ha)	78793.9	70962.01	2200.0	428420.0
Chad dry > 31	3.2	7.72	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 31	6.2	10.75	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 31	9.0	13.18	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 32	2.8	7.21	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 32	5.5	10.11	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 32	8.6	12.81	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 33	2.5	6.67	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 33	4.9	9.33	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 33	8.1	12.41	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 34	2.1	6.11	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 34	4.1	8.37	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 34	7.6	11.95	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 35	1.8	5.51	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 35	3.3	7.25	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 35	7.1	11.39	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 36	1.4	4.90	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 36	2.4	6.00	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 36	6.4	10.64	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 37	1.1	4.27	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 37	1.6	4.68	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 37	5.6	9.69	0.0	31.0
Urban	0.3	0.44	0.0	1.0
Log of violence	-3.4	0.96	-5.6	1.8
index				
N	121824			

Table 2: Summary statistics (excluding Sahara zone)

The high temperature days variables show that there are big differences between the three Chadian seasons. The dry/preparation season has the least high temperature days at each point, followed by the planting season and the harvest season have the highest number at each point.

	mean	sd	min	max
Log of birth rate	2.0	0.46	1.2	3.9
Sorghum yield	514.9	516.88	0.0	4888.7
(Kg/Ha)				
Sorghum area (Ha)	76839.9	84306.74	25.0	436332.0
Millet yield	386.8	246.16	0.0	899.7
(Kg/Ha)				
Millet area (Ha)	101434.3	81286.36	2200.0	428420.0
Chad dry > 31	3.6	8.37	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 31	6.5	11.01	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 31	8.9	13.06	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 32	3.3	7.90	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 32	5.9	10.38	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 32	8.4	12.70	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 33	2.9	7.39	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 33	5.2	9.61	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 33	7.9	12.31	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 34	2.5	6.83	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 34	4.4	8.67	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 34	7.4	11.87	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 35	2.1	6.20	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 35	3.5	7.57	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 35	6.9	11.33	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 36	1.8	5.56	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 36	2.6	6.32	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 36	6.2	10.64	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 37	1.4	4.86	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 37	1.8	4.95	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 37	5.5	9.77	0.0	31.0
Urban	0.3	0.45	0.0	1.0
Log of violence	-3.3	0.94	-5.6	1.8
index				
Ν	78192			

Table 3: Sahel summary statistics

I observe that that though Sahelian sorghum and millet yield is lower than the Chadian mean and sorghum area is lower, the area given to millet production is larger than the Chadian mean. This is because the Sahel contains the region of Chari-Baguirmi that has a significantly greater amount of land given to Millet production than any other of Chad's regions, rather than any systematic difference between the Sahel and the Soudan. Also the Sahel has a higher number of high temperature days, especially in the dry/preparation season and the planting season. However, the harvest season in the Sahel has less high heat days than the Chadian mean and indeed than the Soudan zone. This demonstrates that though the Soudan is on average colder than the Sahel, there are more extreme bursts of heat in the harvest season.

	mean	sd	min	max
Log of birth rate	2.0	0.46	1.2	4.2
Sorghum yield	699.0	240.35	0.0	1973.0
(Kg/Ha)				
Sorghum area (Ha)	93640.9	42150.54	25300.0	202674.0
Millet yield	590.0	186.61	0.0	1092.0
(Kg/Ha)				
Millet area (Ha)	43640.0	23734.28	15600.0	174000.0
Chad dry > 31	2.5	6.35	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 31	5.6	10.24	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 31	9.3	13.38	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 32	2.1	5.71	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 32	5.0	9.59	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 32	8.9	13.01	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 33	1.7	5.07	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 33	4.3	8.77	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 33	8.4	12.58	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 34	1.4	4.47	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 34	3.6	7.77	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 34	7.9	12.09	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 35	1.0	3.88	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 35	2.8	6.61	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 35	7.3	11.48	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 36	0.8	3.32	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 36	2.0	5.37	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 36	6.6	10.65	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 37	0.6	2.84	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 37	1.3	4.14	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 37	5.7	9.56	0.0	31.0
Urban	0.2	0.40	0.0	1.0
Log of violence	-3.5	0.96	-5.5	-1.5
index				
N	43632			

Table 4: Soudan summary statistics

Notice that the Soudan staple crop statistics are above the Chadian mean, both sorghum and millet yield and Sorghum crop area are higher than the Chadian mean, which makes sense as the Soudan is the more agriculturally productive area of Chad. Also, the amount of high heat days are less in the dry/preparation season. However, the amount of harvest season high heat days is greater than the Chadian mean.

	mean	sd	min	max
Log of birth rate	2.0	0.46	1.2	3.9
Sorghum yield	693.8	385.86	0.0	2517.0
(Kg/Ha)				
Sorghum area (Ha)	94330.2	72017.77	48.0	436332.0
Millet yield	536.2	213.91	0.0	899.7
(Kg/Ha)				
Millet area (Ha)	69507.9	74004.99	2200.0	428420.0
Chad dry > 31	3.5	8.02	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 31	6.4	10.92	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 31	9.0	13.18	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 32	3.1	7.51	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 32	5.8	10.28	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 32	8.6	12.83	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 33	2.7	6.96	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 33	5.1	9.48	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 33	8.1	12.46	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 34	2.3	6.36	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 34	4.3	8.53	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 34	7.6	12.03	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 35	1.9	5.70	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 35	3.4	7.40	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 35	7.1	11.49	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 36	1.6	5.02	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 36	2.5	6.13	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 36	6.4	10.78	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 37	1.2	4.32	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 37	1.7	4.81	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 37	5.7	9.86	0.0	31.0
Urban	0.2	0.38	0.0	1.0
Log of violence	-3.4	0.94	-5.5	-1.2
index				
N	49248			

Table 5: High staple crop intensity regions

The cut-off between low intensity and high intensity staple crop areas is based on percentage of area given to staple crop production in a 2011 World Food Program report (WFP 2011). I denote a region to be a high intensity staple crop region if more than 5% of its land surface is given to the cultivation of at least one of the major Chadian staple crops, sorghum or millet²². The areas of low staple crop intensity would have a more diverse range of crops and livestock use. They would tend to have a larger area given to cotton cash crop production if they are based in the Soudan. Or they would have larger areas given to livestock pasture or transhumance if they are based in the Sahel (WFP 2010).

The high intensity staple crop areas tend to have a larger amount of high heat days than the Chadian mean, though this is mainly due to the larger amount of such regions in the Sahel rather than the Soudan (five in the Sahel, three in the Soudan). The high intensity staple crop areas also have a much larger area given to sorghum production, and also higher sorghum and millet yields.

²² By this definition the Sahelian high staple crop areas are: Chari Baguirmi, Guera, Salamat, Bahr el Ghazal and Dar Sila. The Soudanian high staple crop areas are: Mayo Kebbi Est, Mayo Kebbi Ouest, and Tandjile. Most regions that are 6% or more in either area given to sorghum or millet production, are 6% or more in both. However, both Mayo Kebbi Est and Ouest have only 4% given to millet production, while their areas given to sorghum production are 8% and 9% respectively. The most borderline case is the Sahelian region of Bahr El Gazal, 6% of its land is given to millet production and 5% is given to sorghum production.

	mean	sd	min	max
Log of birth rate	2.0	0.46	1.2	4.2
Sorghum yield	592.3	454.27	0.0	4888.7
(Kg/Ha)				
Sorghum area	75472.0	67631.20	25.0	436332.0
(Ha)				
Millet yield	478.8	203.87	0.0	1092.0
(Kg/Ha)				
Millet area (Ha)	86154.3	67553.76	14630.0	428420.0
Chad dry > 31	3.2	7.70	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 31	6.1	10.69	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 31	9.0	13.11	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 32	2.8	7.18	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 32	5.5	10.04	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 32	8.5	12.71	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 33	2.4	6.64	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 33	4.8	9.26	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 33	8.0	12.27	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 34	2.1	6.09	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 34	4.0	8.28	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 34	7.5	11.77	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 35	1.7	5.53	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 35	3.2	7.14	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 35	6.9	11.16	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 36	1.4	4.95	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 36	2.3	5.87	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 36	6.2	10.39	0.0	31.0
Chad dry > 37	1.1	4.35	0.0	31.0
Chad plant > 37	1.5	4.52	0.0	31.0
Chad harvest > 37	5.3	9.39	0.0	31.0
Urban	0.2	0.39	0.0	1.0
Log of violence	-3.4	0.97	-5.6	1.8
index				
N	61776			

Table 6: Low staple crop intensity region

Notice that the number of hectares given to millet production is larger in the low intensity areas than in the higher intensity areas. This is due to some of the larger Sahelian regions have a larger area given to staple crop production, but that is a much smaller percentage of the region's land area. Recall that I want to estimate equation 3.6:

$$dN = f_H H_C dC + f_I I_Y Y_C dC$$

Here there are two major ways that changing weather patterns can affect demand for children. Through our identification strategy and the models we run, we want to differentiate between the two major ways that changing weather patterns can affect the birth rate.

Firstly, the first term on the right hand side in equation 3.6 represents the direct effect of changing weather patterns on the birth rate. This can be through the effects of changing weather patterns on health.

Due to the trajectory of changing weather patterns in Chad, I use the marginal effect of an extra high heat day as a proxy for changing weather patterns in Chad (Abidoye & Odusola, 2015). Many writers observe the direct health link between rising heat and a drop in human fertility (Boserup 1985; Lam, Miron 1996; Scholte, Van den Berg, Lindeboom 2015). I have documented the different routes by which this can happen, but for the purpose of this econometric model I assume that there is one generic direct route of rising heat on the birth rate through the health route.

Secondly, there is the route of transmission which is via the effect of rising heat on the birthrate through shocks to household income. This is the effect of rising heat on the birth rate, through
the effect of rising heat on yield's effect on income and hence on the birth rate. For example, households may decide to forego/have another child due a negative or positive shock to household income through a negative or positive effect on crop yield (Eloundou-Enyegue, Stokes & Cornwell 2000; Mckenzie 2003; Mckelvey, Thomas & Frankenberg 2012).

As I have noted, I am interested in the effect of changing weather patterns on fertility in a Chadian context. I assume that changing weather patterns mean rising heat in Chad, and thus I allow for days above temperatures of 31 degrees Celsius as a proxy for the effects of rising heat.

Econometric Model

Based on equation 3.10 we estimate the following reduced form model where the natural log of the birth rate in cluster i and in month m and year t is a direct function high heat days as follows:

(1)
$$LnBR_{imt} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 Hightmpdays31_{imst}$$

$$+\beta_2 X_{it} + \lambda_m + \eta_r + y_t + \varepsilon$$

Where $LnBR_{imst}$ is the natural log of the birth rate, and $Hightmpdays31_{imst}$ is the season's average number of days above 31 degrees Celsius per month, in cluster i^{23} . X_{it} is a matrix of controls that includes an urban²⁴ indicator and the natural log of the violence index. I also

²³ If the month m is prior to the growing season in year *t* then the most recent growing season occurs in year *t*-1.

²⁴ If I partition the data by urban and rural, we see that urban Chad reacts very differently to the rising heat. As we want to look at the rural story, we control for whether the cluster is urban so we can concentrate on the rural results.

include a vector of regional, η_r and monthly dummies, λ_i , and year fixed effects, y_t , to control for spatial and temporal trends in fertility and temperature.

I use a fixed effects semi-log regression to model the relationship between the birth rate and the number of high temperature days. I use year fixed effects to remove time trends from my right and left-hand side variables. Also, I use regional dummies to control for average differences between the regions that would affect the relationship between the birth rate and the high temperature days.

I run different iterations of model (1) with a mean of high temperature days in the dry/preparation season (January, February and March), the planting season (May, June, July and August) and the harvest season (September, October, November and December). I then run the same iterations on date partitioned by zone (Sahel or Soudan), and whether the region has a higher or lower reliance on staple crops. Finally, I run the model with no lag, one-year lag and a two-year lag to differentiate between shorter-term health driven mechanisms and longer-term food security driven mechanisms.

There are multiple mechanisms through which growing season conditions may affect fertility. Poor growing season temperatures may reduce fertility either due to the direct negative health effects of reduced food security or through household decisions to reduce or delay fertility in the face of negative shocks. On the other hand, favorable growing season conditions may increase fertility through the effects of increased food security and well-being. However, improved conditions could also reduce fertility if it causes household labor to concurrently decrease or if households are facing quantity/quality trade-offs in their fertility decisions (Becker, 1973). To better understand some of these mechanisms, I estimate the effect of average maximum growing season temperature on millet yield, one of Chad's staple food crops.

(2)
$$MY_{rt} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 Hightmpdays 31_{imst}$$

 $+\beta_2 X_{it} + \lambda_i + \eta_r + y_t + \varepsilon$

Where *MYrt* is the total millet yield in kilograms per hectare for region r in year t. As with fertility, I estimate equation 2 by separately using the no, one- and two-year lags for average high temp days. All right-hand-side variables in equation 2 are the same as those in equation 1, except that I also control for the area given to millet production by region in the vector of covariates X_{it} .

I also run the same model using sorghum yield SY_{rt} as the dependent variable.

(3)
$$SY_{rt} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 Hightmpdays 31_{imst}$$

 $+\beta_2 X_{it} + \lambda_i + \eta_r + y_t + \varepsilon$

[KV2]

I run different iterations of model (2) and(3) with a mean of high temperature days in the dry/preparation season (January, February and March), the planting season (May, June, July and August) and the harvest season (September, October, November and December). I then run the same iterations on the data partitioned by zone (Sahel or Soudan), and whether the region has a higher or lower reliance on staple crops. Finally, I run the model with a zero lag, one-year lag and a two-year lag.

Identification strategy

I want to use a strategy that differentiates between the effect of rising heat on human fertility through health channels, and the effect of rising heat on human fertility through changes in agricultural output. To look at this I first run the models with data from the Sahel and Soudan combined, then I split the data into four sections. Firstly, I split the data by Sahelian and Soudanian climate zone, then I split the data by percentage of region given to the cultivation of the major staple crops of Sorghum and Millet. I then run all our models using the amount of days over a certain 31 degrees Celsius, as the independent variables in all three models. I then run the same models with a zero lag, a one-year lag and a two-year lag.

I also split the high-heat days into three seasons, to check if the effect of heat days on the dependent variable is due to an agricultural or non-agricultural channel. I code the months of January, February and March as the dry/preparation season; the months of May, June, July and August as the planting season; and the months of September, October, November and December as the Harvest season.

CHAPTER 5-RESULTS

In this section I present the results of my three econometric equations; (1) Birthrate model (2) Millet yield model and (3) Sorghum yield model. I run each model with all Chad data (Soudan and Sahel), only Sahel data, only Soudan data, only High staple crop intensity and only Low staple crop intensity data. In each of these five categories, I run nine different regressions: firstly with days above 31 degrees Celsius in the dry season, then in the planting season and finally in the harvest season. Secondly, I run these three regressions with zero lag, one-year lag and two-year lag.

VARIABLES	Chad zero lag	Chad one-year lag	Chad two-year lag
		- 0	
Innbirthrate			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0007	-0.0009	-0.0012**
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.237	0.113	0.025
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.0011**	-0.0011**	-0.0010*
	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.018	0.035	0.088
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0014*	0.0007	0.0012**
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.06	0.287	0.034
Observations	33,723	33,723	33,723
R-squared	0.037	0.037	0.037
Number of vear	15	15	15

Table 7: Overall Chad (Soudan and Sahel)-Birthrate model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

Table 7 reports the results from nine different iterations of equation (1), the birth rate model, run with the data from across Chad (without the Sahara zone). Firstly, there is a significant negative correlation

between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the two-year lag iteration of the model. As stated previously, I assume that any significant correlations in the dry season are related to some sort of health route. The two-year lag suggests that this route could be through heat's effect on spermatogenesis or reduced ovulatory function, rather than any increased miscarriage effect and it is also worth noting that the one-year lag iteration of the model is nearly significant (Boserup 1985; Lam, Miron 1996; Scholte, Van den Berg, Lindeboom 2015).

Secondly, there are significant negative correlations between the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the zero, one-year and two-year iterations of the model. These are the most robust results that I observe, and I see later that this is driven by the Sahel zone. It is interesting to note that the significant negative correlations occur in the zero, one-year and two-year lag iterations of the model. Later on, I discuss the clear link between the results in the millet yield model (2)-and these results-and suggest a clear Beckerian economic/food security route (Becker 1981; Ray et al. 2012; Porter et al. 2013; Tiwari et al. 2017). However, the fact that there is such a clear negative significant correlation with the zero lag model, suggests that part of the effect could be through the effect of malnutrition on miscarriages and increased incidence of stillbirth (Strand, Barnett & Tong 2011; Basu, Sarovar & Malig 2016). However, the zero-lag iteration of the model is based on the most recent completed growing season, hence this effect could be coming from a variety of avenues.

Thirdly, there are significant positive correlations between the number of harvest season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the zero and two-year lag iterations of the model. This is another result that occurs across several models and would be suggestive of a positive effect of harvest season heat on the optimal staple crop (particularly millet) harvest (De Wet, Bidinger and Peacock 1991; Yadav

et al 2004). However, I don't observe a corresponding significant positive effect on crop yield in models (2), and (3).

Table 8: All Chad-Millet yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

VARIABLES	Chad zero lag	Chad one-year lag	Chad two-year lag
Millet_Y_kg_ha Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0021	0.0414	-0.1705
	(0.139) 0.988	(0.154) 0.792	(0.12) 0.177
Planting season	0.500	01792	0.177
Days above 31 C in planting season	0.026	-0.227**	-0.0716
	(0.184) 0.89	(0.105) 0.049	(0.088) 0.430
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0009	0.0516	-0.0911
	(0.332)	(0.16)	(0.28)
	0.998	0.765	0.75
Observations	<u>86,688</u>	<u>86,688</u>	<u>86,688</u>
R-squared	0.669	0.669	0.669
Number of year	<u>15</u>	<u>15</u>	<u>15</u>

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

Turning to the nine iterations of model (2), the millet yield model with the pooled Chad data, I only observe one significant correlation. There is a significant negative correlation between the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the one-year lag iteration of model (2).

This result is very important and relates to the planting season results that we observe in our results for model (1) run with the overall Chad data. The number of days above 31 degrees Celsius cause a drop in fertility, but also cause a drop in millet yield. This suggests a Beckerian mechanism operating-children as normal goods-as households have a negative food/economic shock and hence react by deciding to have less children (Becker 1991).

VARIABLES	Chad zero lag	Chad one-year lag	Chad two-year lag
Sorghum_Y_kg_ha			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.055	-0.1331	0.0258
	(0.186)	(0.182)	(0.187)
	0.772	0.477	0.892
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.1074	-0.2614	-0.0820
	(0.324)	(0.294)	(0.161)
	0.746	0.391	0.619
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.2326	-0.1079	-0.021
	(0.363)	(0.284)	(0.371)
	0.533	0.711	0.956
Observations	79,536	79,536	79,536
R-squared	0.532	0.532	0.532
Number of year	14	14	14

Table 9: All Chad-Sorghum yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

In this estimation of model (3), there are no significant correlations, though there is a consistent negative point estimate for the correlation between extra planting season high heat days and the birth rate.

VARIABLES	Sahel zero lag	Sahel one-year lag	Sahel two-year lag
Innbirthrate			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.001	-0.0004	-0.0006
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.132	0.426	0.387
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.0013**	0.0014**	-0.0012*
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.043	0.046	0.077
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0021***	0.0012	0.0017**
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.007	0.15	0.025
Observations	21,200	21,200	21,200
R-squared	0.048	0.049	0.049
Number of year	15	15	15

Table 10: Sahel-Birthrate model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

In the estimation of model (1) with purely Sahelian data, there is a similar pattern of significance to the results of model (1) run with the pooled Chad data. There are significant negative correlations between

the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the zero, one-year and two-year lag iterations of the model.

I also notice significant positive correlations between the number of harvest season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the zero and two-year lag iterations of the model.

Apart from one dry season result when we run model (1) with the overall Chad data, I observe the same pattern of correlations in model (1) run with purely Sahelian data. This suggests that the more climate vulnerable Sahel zone (Potts 2015) is the main driver of the results from the food security/economic route. The Sahel region is often cited as a clear example of food insecurity due to climate vulnerability and would be more vulnerable to a food security/economic route driving the effect of rising heat on fertility (Becker 1981; Ray et al. 2012; Porter et al. 2013; Tiwari et al. 2017).

VARIABLES	Sahel zero lag	Sahel one-year lag	Sahel two-year lag
Millet_Y_kg_ha			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0267	-0.1466	-0.2717*
	(0.200)	(0.175)	(0.141)
	0.896	0.417	0.074
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.1347	-0.342**	-0.1956
	(0.259)	(0.152)	(0.124)
	0.612	0.042	0.138
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.2015	-0.2068	-0.347
	(0.345)	(0.255)	(0.274)
	0.568	0.431	0.226
Observations	52,752	52,752	52,752
R-squared	0.708	0.708	0.708
Number of year	15	15	15

Table 11: Sahel-Millet yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

(P-values in 3rd row)

In the estimation of model (2) run with the Sahel data, there is a similar pattern with the same model run with across Chad data. Firstly, there is a significant negative correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the two-year iteration of the model. Notice that this is a similar significant negative result (on the two-year lag iteration of the model) in model (1) run with overall Chad data. This result is difficult to interpret, but may be due to a high heat drying season hardening the ground and hence affecting the planting season (Yadav et al 2004).

Secondly-and similar to the same model run with across Chad data-there is a significant negative correlation between the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the one-year iteration of the model. Again, this suggests that the Sahel zone is driving the linked results from models (1) and (2), which I see in the models run with overall Chad data. This suggests the Beckerian link between heat, crop yield and fertility that I have discussed is evident in Chad's Sahel zone (Becker 1991).

VARIABLES	Sahel zero lag	Sahel one-year lag	Sahel two-year lag
Sorghum_Y_kg_ha Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	0.1062	-0.4270*	-0.207
	(0.238) 0.662	(0.227) 0.082	(0.232) 0.389
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.2840	-0.4640	-0.1624
	(0.42)	(0.375)	(0.172)
	0.511	0.238	0.362
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	-0.0698	-0.8038	-0.0317
	(0.483)	(0.577)	(0.391)
	0.887	0.187	0.937
Observations	45,600	45,600	45,600
R-squared	0.576	0.576	0.576
Number of year	14	14	14

Table 12: Sahel-Sorghum yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

In our estimation of model (3), the sorghum yield model, we observe one significant correlation. There is a significant negative correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and sorghum yield in the one-year iteration of the model.

The dry season significant correlation are difficult to interpret and demonstrate that I cannot assume a dry season significance means that it is a direct health effect. Furthermore, there is evidence that heat shocks in the Chadian dry season can affect the yield in the planting and harvesting season due to damage to the soil environment (Yadav et al 2004).

Table 13: Soudan-Birthrate model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

VARIABLES	Soudan zero lag	Soudan one-year lag	Soudan two-year lag
Innbirthrate			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	0.0010	-0.0007	-0.0015*
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.405	0.454	0.062
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0006	-0.0005	-0.0005
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.563	0.633	0.537
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.001	0.0002	0.0007
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.988	0.901	0.598
Observations	12,523	12,523	12,523
R-squared	0.018	0.018	0.018
Number of year	15	15	15

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

(P-values in 3rd row)

In the more agriculturally prosperous Soudan, there aren't any significant correlations in the more agricultural seasons in model (1), the birth rate model. In the more population dense areas of the Soudan, there has been more agricultural development and an advance in use of irrigation methods that mitigates against climate extremes (Boserup 1964; Sivakumar 1989).

There is a significant negative correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the two-year lag iteration of the model. Notice that this significant correlation is the same result that we observe in model (1) run with overall Chad data. This suggests that the Soudan zone is driving that result. This could suggest that there is an effect of heat on the birth rate in the Soudan, which is driven by one of the non-economic health routes suggested (Boserup 1985; Lam, Miron 1996; Scholte; Van den Berg, Lindeboom 2015).

Tab	le 14:	Soudan-	Millet yield	l model: (0, 1	and	2-year	lag
-----	--------	---------	--------------	------------	------	-----	--------	-----

VARIABLES	Soudan zero lag	Soudan one-year lag	Soudan two-year lag
Millet_Y_kg_ha			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0837	0.2187	-0.0941
	(0.199)	(0.152)	(0.124)
	0.681	0.175	0.461
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	0.3141	0.3102	0.2034
	(0.214)	(0.178)	(0.170)
	0.166	0.105	0.253
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.7722	0.4157	0.6963
	(0.561)	(0.600)	(0.517)
	0.192	0.501	0.201
Observations	33,936	33,936	33,936
R-squared	0.157	0.157	0.157
Number of year	14	14	14

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row) In the Soudan based estimation of model (2), the millet yield model, there aren't any significant correlations between the amount of days above 31 degrees Celsius and millet yield.

Note that there are not any significant correlations in the agricultural seasons in model (1) run with data from the Soudan. This suggests that the Soudan region is less vulnerable to the negative effects of heat shocks on agricultural yield, and indeed the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius is very close to having a positive significant effect on millet yield in the one-year lag iteration of the model.

Table 15: Soudan-Sorghum yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

VARIABLES	Soudan zero lag	Soudan one-year lag	Soudan two-year lag
Sorghum_Y_kg_ha Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.2185	0.2396	0.2224
	(0.335)	(0.256)	(0.136)
	0.526	0.367	0.126
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	0.3425*	0.5208**	-0.0310
	(0.176)	(0.199)	(0.223)
	0.073	0.021	0.892
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.8970***	0.5342	-0.0638
	(0.250)	(0.462)	(0.766)
	0.003	0.268	0.935
Observations	33,936	33,936	33,936
R-squared	0.321	0.321	0.321
Number of year	14	14	14

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1(P-values in 3rd row)

In this estimation of model (3), the sorghum yield model, run with Soudan data, there are more significant correlations. There are significant positive correlations between the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and sorghum yield in the zero and the one-year lag iterations of the model.

Also, there is a significant positive correlation between the number of harvest season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and sorghum yield in the zero lag iteration of the model.

In model (3) run with Soudan data, we see that millet and sorghum yield in the Soudan zone is less vulnerable to heat shocks than the Sahel zone. Indeed, we observe the opposite, high heat days have a positive effect both in the planting and harvest seasons. Also, the fact that these positive shocks to staple crop yield don't have a corresponding positive effect on the birth rate (in the Soudan zone) suggests that the simple Beckerian hypothesis we advance is not operating in the agriculturally more-developed Soudan zone, or that it is not the complete story (i.e. it's not operating through agricultural productivity).

7	Table	16: H	ligh	staple	crop	o intensit	y-Birthrate	model:	0,1	l and 2-	-year	lag
			0				1				~	

VARIABLES	High staple crop zero lag	High staple crop one-year lag	High staple crop two-year lag
Innbirthrate			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0005	-0.0009	-0.0007
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.554	0.253	0.439
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.0012	-0.0017*	-0.0012
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.139	0.07	0.124
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0010	0.0001	0.0003
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.322	0.879	0.756
Observations	14,469	14,469	14,469
R-squared	0.024	0.024	0.024
Number of year	15	15	15

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

(P-values in 3rd row)

I now turn to the models run with data from regions with high intensity staple crop use. In this estimation of model (1), the birth rate model, there is one significant correlation. There is a significant negative correlation between the number of days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the

one-year lag iteration of the model, and both the zero and two-year lag iterations of the model are nearly significant.

This result-the significant effect of planting season high heat days on the birth rate-is now familiar across a variety of models, and suggests that the significant negative correlation is driven by the Sahel zone and regions with high staple crop intensity. This is also a further suggestion that this significant correlation is driven by a food security/economic route (Becker 1981; Ray et al. 2012; Porter et al. 2013; Tiwari et al. 2017).

	High	High	High
	staple	staple	staple
	crop	crop	crop
VARIABLES	zero lag	one-year	two-year
V/ ((), ()) EES	2010 105	lag	lag
Millet_Y_kg_ha			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0622	0.0815	-0.2564*
	(0.212)	(0.228)	(0.130)
	0.774	0.727	0.071
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in planting season	0.1213	-0.3714*	-0.0298
	(0.262)	(0.181)	(0.097)
	0.651	0.059	0.764
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0323	0.0840	-0.0721
	(0.408)	(0.361)	(0.367)
	0.938	0.819	0.847
Observations	38,304	38,304	38,304
R-squared	0.646	0.646	0.646
Number of year	14	14	14

Table 17: High staple crop intensity-Millet yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 (P-values in 3rd row)

In our estimation of model (2), the millet yield model, there are two significant correlations. Firstly, there is a significant negative correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the two-year lag iteration of the model.

Secondly, there is a significant negative correlation between the number of planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the one-year lag iteration of the model. The significant dry season correlation is similar to other versions of our model, and is more difficult to interpret though is more suggestive of a health route.

The planting season result is now consistent across model (1) run with overall Chad, Sahel zone and high staple crop intensity region data, as well as model (2) run with overall Chad, Sahel zone and now high staple crop intensity data. This suggests that our simple Beckerian model has explanatory power in the Sahel zone and in regions that have a higher staple crop intensity. This makes intuitive sense as in regions where there is less dominance of staple crops, there will be the effect of other mechanisms on the birth rate, which won't be picked up by our simple model.

	High	High	High
	stanle	stanle	stanle
	cron	cron	cron
	crop	one-vear	two-vear
VARIABLES	zero lag	laσ	laσ
		lag	lug
Courte V la ba			
Sorgrium_Y_kg_na	•	•	•
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0240	-0.4232	0.0145
	(0.231)	(0.295)	(0.237)
	0.919	0.175	0.952
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in		0.0445	0.0505
planting season	-0.5243	-0.8416	-0.0535
	(0.510)	(0.500)	(0.243)
	0.323	0.116	0.829
Harvest season			
Davs above 31 C in harvest			
season	-0.2157	-0.6396	-0.322
	(0.627)	(0.497)	(0.757)
	0.736	0.220	0.677
Observations	35 616	35 616	35 616
P squared	0 402	0 102	0 402
n-squareu	0.485	0.485	0.485
Number of year	14	14	14

Table 18: High staple crop intensity-Sorghum yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

There are no significant correlations between the days above 31 degrees Celsius and sorghum yield in our estimation of model (3) run with data from regions with high staple crop intensity.

Millet and Sorghum have different resistance to extremes of heat, but I would expect heat to have similar effects on both staple crops. Though there is no significant negative relationship, there is a nearly significant correlation between planting season days and sorghum yield in our one-year lag iteration of model (3). This is further evidence that the heat shocks affect the birth rate through their effect on crop yields.

	Low	Low	Low
	staple	stanle	staple
	crop	crop	crop
		one-vear	Two-vear
VARIABLES	zero lag	lag	lag
		<u> </u>	
Innbirthrate			
Dry season			
Days above 31 C in dry season	-0.0004	-0.0005	-0.0013
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.661	0.545	0.102
Planting season			
Days above 31 C in	-0.0009	-0.0005	-0.0008
planting season	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.152	0.405	0.203
Harvest season			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.0022**	0.0017	0.0027***
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
	0.047	0.103	0.001
Observations	16,965	16,965	16,965
R-squared	0.042	0.042	0.042
Number of year	15	15	15

Table 19: Low staple crop intensity-Birthrate model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

(P-values in 3rd row)

The final estimations of our models are run with data from the Chadian regions with low staple crop intensity. These regressions estimate model (1), the birthrate model. There are significant positive

correlations between the number of harvest season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birthrate in our zero and two-year lag iterations of the model.

In model (1) run with data from the regions with low staple regions, there is a similar pattern in terms of harvest season positive correlations as in model (1), run with across Chad data. The fact that this pattern is driven by the low intensity crop regions, suggests that the positive significant correlation between harvest season heat days and the birth rate is more complicated than a simple case of high heat days leading to an optimal harvest.

	Low	Low	Low
	staple	staple	staple
	crop	crop	crop
VARIABLES	Zero lag	one-year	two-year
	2010 108	lag	lag
Millet_Y_kg_ha	•		•
Dry season data			
Days above 31 C in dry season	0.0161	-0.0029	-0.1166
	(0.150)	(0.148)	(0.142)
	0.916	0.985	0.424
Planting season data			
Days above 31 C in planting season	-0.0910	-0.1169	-0.1227
	(0.172)	(0.110)	(0.139)
	0.606	0.307	0.391
Harvest season data			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	-0.0427	0.0184	-0.0699
	(0.404)	(0.219)	(0.339)
	0.917	0.934	0.839
Observations	48,384	48,384	48,384
R-squared	0.675	0.675	0.675
Number of year	15	15	15

Table 20: Low staple crop intensity-Millet yield model: 0, 1 and 2-year lag

Robust standard errors in parentheses *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1(P-values in 3rd row)

In our estimation of model (2), the millet yield model, run with data from the low staple crop intensity regions, there aren't any significant correlations.

Notice that in this estimation of the model-run with low intensity staple crop region data-there is neither a significant negative correlation between planting season high heat days and the birth rate nor a significant correlation with those same high heat days and millet yield. This is further evidence that our simple Beckerian hypothesis that relates the effect of heat shocks on the birth rate through staple crop yield is evident in regions of higher crop yield, and breaks down in areas where there those staple crops are not so dominant.

Table 21: Low staple crop	o intensity-Sorghum	yield model: 0, 1	and 2-year lag
---------------------------	---------------------	-------------------	----------------

	Low	Low	Low
	staple	staple	staple
	crop	Crop One-	Тио
VARIABLES	zero lag	vear lag	vear lag
		year lag	year rag
Sorghum_Y_kg_ha			
Dry season data			
Days above 31 C in dry season	0.0446	0.1365	0.0219
	(0.178)	(0.214)	(0.223)
	0.806	0.534	0.923
Planting season data			
Days above 31 C in planting season	0.0224	0.1176	-0.0334
	(0.214)	(0.167)	(0.134)
	0.918	0.493	0.807
Harvest season data			
Days above 31 C in harvest season	0.3053	0.0575	0.356
	(0.224)	(0.287)	(0.207)
	0.197	0.845	0.110
Observations	43,920	43,920	43,920
R-squared	0.615	0.615	0.615
Number of year	14	14	14

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

(P-values in 3rd row)

Here I estimate model (3), the sorghum yield model, with data from the low staple crop intensity regions of Chad. There aren't any significant correlations in these estimations of model (3).

There isn't much in this estimation of model (3) to note, except that the (non-significant) signs are positive and are nearer to significance with harvest season high temperature days.

Discussion of results

Recalling Our Original Research Questions:

This dissertation's primary question is "What is the relationship between changing weather patterns and human fertility in the Chadian context?" This question is the basis of the dissertation, and touches on the climate change population link, as well as the more specific question of how human fertility responds to changing weather patterns.

Our second research question is: "is the main effect of rising heat on the birth rate caused by changes in crop yield and related changes in food security/insecurity?" This question looks at the route by which changing weather patterns affect human fertility.

Thirdly, we ask: "are there health routes whereby rising heat affects fertility?" As we discuss in the literature section, there are many routes by which the changing weather/fertility relationship can be driven by health.

Our first question is modelled through model (1), the birth rate model and we use model (2) and model (3) to draw conclusions about our second and third questions.

Recalling equation 3.10 and remembering that there are two ways that an extra high heat day in a month can affect the birth rate. Firstly, through the effect of that extra high heat day on the birth rate through a health route, or secondly through the effect of that extra high heat day on the birth rate through the effect of heat on crop yield.

Planting Season High Heat Days

The clearest pattern in the data is the significant negative correlation between planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius and the birth rate, in the overall Chad, Sahel and high intensity crops data models.

In these same estimations (Chad, Sahel and high intensity crop regions) of models (2) and (3), millet yield and sorghum yield, I observe what effects the same planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius have on staple crop yield.

In terms of model (2)-the millet yield model-there is the same pattern of significant negative correlation, especially in the one-year lag model. Furthermore, though there are no significant negative correlations with model (3) sorghum yield, there is a constant negative relationship between planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius and Sorghum yield in the estimations run with overall Chad, Sahel and high intensity staple crop regions data.

Recall that the effect of rising heat on fertility through crop yield was ambiguous, because I was unsure about the effect of rising heat on staple crop yield. But I can say that in the Sahel region, the effect of rising heat on staple crop yield (especially millet) is negative, hence I can sign the second route in terms of Sahelian (or Sahelian dominated) models:

$f_{I}(+)I_{Y}(+)Y_{C}(-)DC(+)$

So overall, in estimations of our model run (or dominated by) data from the Sahel zone and high intensity staple crop regions, I can infer that the effect of rising heat on human fertility is negative.

This is what I observe in these negative correlations between planting season days above 31 degrees Celsius and the birth rate in the estimations run with overall Chad, Sahel and high intensity staple crop data.

Furthermore, this group of results is suggestive of a confirmation of our Beckerian understanding of the effect of income on human fertility (Becker 1991). Our model assumes that rising income would cause a rise in fertility and falling income would cause the opposite, as we don't model the quantity/quality trade-off that Becker suggests later for the reason of modern low fertility regimes (Becker 1991). This is also suggestive that the Sahel region of Chad could be in the 'Malthusian Epoch' as designated by Oded Galor (Malthus 1791; Galor 1999; Galor 2000).

Harvest Season High Heat Days

The second clear pattern across the various estimations is the model (1) significant positive correlation between the number of days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the zero and two-year lag iterations of the model. I observe the same result in the estimations run with Sahelian data, suggesting that this result is driven by the Sahel region. I also observe the same result in the estimations run with data from the low staple crop intensity regions, thus suggesting that this effect may not be driven by the effect of the same high heat days on staple crop yield.

When I turn to the effects of the high heat days on staple crop yield, it is more difficult to see a clear pattern. Recall that I observe this significant positive relationship in the estimations run with overall Chad, Sahel and low intensity staple crop data. When I look at the effects of high heat days on model (2) and model (3) in the estimations run with the same data, I don't observe any corresponding patterns. There are no significant correlations in the estimations run with overall Chad, Sahel or low staple crop intensity regions data.

There is one significant positive correlation between the number of harvest season days above 31 degrees Celsius and Sorghum yield, in the zero lag iteration of the model (3) run with data from the Soudan. However, this does not add to understanding as there is no corresponding significant relationship in model (1)-the birth rate model-run with Soudan data.

It is interesting to note that the only estimations where there seems to be a similar pattern between the models, is in the estimations run with data from low intensity staple crop intensity data. In these estimations, where I observe the pattern of significant correlations, I see that there is a (nonsignificant) positive relationship between the number of days above 31 degrees Celsius and sorghum yield. Furthermore, in the zero and two-year lag iterations of the model I can see that the relationship is nearly positively significant.

These results belie a clear interpretation, due to the pattern of significance manifesting in the estimations run with low staple crop region intensity data. I cannot say that there isn't a food security/economic route by which the harvest season high heat days influence the birth rate, but I don't see clear evidence that it is operating through the effect of rising heat on staple crop yield.

Dry Season High Heat Days

In terms of dry season significant correlations, there is a significant negative correlation between dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and the birth rate in the two-year lag iteration of the model in

the overall Chad data. I see this same significant negative correlation in the estimation of model (1) run with Soudan data.

There are also significant negative correlations in the staple crop yield models-(2) and (3)-but not in the same estimations in which I observe the significant relations in model (1). I do not observe significant correlations between high heat days and staple crop yields in the estimations where there are significant correlations in model (1), the overall Chad and Soudan data estimations. In the estimations run with Sahel data, there is a significant negative correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius and millet yield in the two-year lag iteration of the model. Furthermore, in the Sahel estimation there is a negative significant correlation between the number of dry season days above 31 degrees Celsius, and sorghum yield in the one-year iteration of the model. I also note a significant negative correlation between the number of days above 31 degrees Celsius, and millet yield in the two-year lag iteration of the model.

These results are difficult to interpret, as there are dry season heat shocks that affect staple crop yield. However, the heat shocks that significantly affect staple crop yield do not affect the birth rate and vice-versa. Hence, I assume that those dry season heat shocks that affect the birth rate are through some sort of health-related route.
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

Summary of Method and Findings

In this dissertation I have adapted Becker's simple model to a rural Chadian context and hypothesized how changing weather patterns (here proxied by the effect of one more high heat day in a month) would affect the birth rate. I estimate three econometric models to differentiate between the effect of the extra high heat day a month through health channels or through economic/food security channels.

The major consistent result is the significant negative correlation between planting season high heat days and the birth rate, and a corresponding effect of those same days on millet yield. I observe this effect in the models run with across Chad data, Sahelian data and high staple crop intensity area data.

Wider Implications

Due the planting season results, I can suggest that there is some predictive power to my simple Beckerian model for demand for children, and the effect of rising heat on that demand. However, there are other results that are less clear, and I cannot say that my simple model explains a lot of the interaction between rising heat and fertility in a Chadian context.

However, there is a generally negative link between rising heat and fertility as that is the pattern in both the planting season and the dry season, especially in the larger Sahelian part of the country.

My simple development of Becker's model shows that at a micro household level, and in the Sahel zone, there is a negative relationship between rising heat and both the birth rate and crop yield. This implies that as crop yield/household income goes down then the birth rate goes down as implied by our adaption of Becker's model (Becker 1991). This is tentative micro evidence that the Sahel zone of Chad is still in the 'Malthusian Epoch', as described in Oded Galor's Unified Growth Theory (Malthus 1791; Galor 1999; Galor 2000).

Returning to Guengant and Guealbaye overview of Chad's demographic trajectory, I can hypothesize what the results could mean for Chad's future population growth (Guengant & Guealbaye 2013). Guengant and Guealbaye do not factor in the effects of climate change on Chad's population growth and it is clear that it would have some effect, especially if the present trajectory of rising heat continues.

However, I cannot assume that there is no fertility rebound effect as I only survey fertility decisions over a two-year lag. So, though the results suggest that rising heat may provide a brake to Guengant and Guelbaye's 'High hypothesis', I cannot categorically state that there will be no fertility rebound effect to the results we demonstrate.

That being said, based on climate projections, I can assume that rising heat will continue to be an issue in Chad, especially as the pace of climate change quickens (Potts 2015). Though I cannot categorically state how this will affect Chadian demographic projections, it is clear from the results that there is an interaction between rising heat and fertility, and this must be understood in future analysis of Chadian and even wider Sahelian demographic projections.

Caveats

Though there is a very clear result in the planting season that seems to tell a clear story, there are other more ambiguous results. Though I can say that the planting season results speak about a food security/economic route, it is more difficult to understand how the effect of an extra high heat day on the birth rate operates through the various health routes.

Future Directions

There are many ways that I want to develop this research in the future. Though the main interest of this dissertation is the food security/economics routes by which rising heat affect the birth rate, there are clearly health routes that need further investigation. Throughout this dissertation I have held the disease environment constant and assumed that there is no effect of changing weather patterns on the disease environment. In the future I would like to relax this assumption and find models that could investigate the effects of rising heat on particular aspects of the disease environment and test for how that effects the birth rate.

In this dissertation I have developed relatively simple theoretical and econometric models, but in the future I would like to use mediation analysis to parse out the different mediators of the effects of an extra high heat day on the birth rate. This could further develop our understanding of the food security/economic channels, as well as investigating the different health channels that could be mediating this effect.

Finally, throughout this dissertation I have controlled for violence as background noise. However, Chad has seen significant levels of national and localized conflict, especially since 2004. Violence could be a mediating variable between rising heat and the birth rate and in future I would like to investigate this.

Bibliography

Abidoye, B. O., & Odusola, A. F. (2015). Climate Change and Economic Growth in Africa: An Econometric Analysis. *Journal of African Economies*, 24(2), 277–301.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/eju033

- Abidoye, Babatunde O., & Odusola, A. (2015a). Climate Change and Economic Growth in Africa: An Econometric Analysis. *Journal of African Economies*, 24(2), 277–301.
- Abidoye, Babatunde O., & Odusola, A. F. (2015b). Climate Change and Economic Growth in Africa: An Econometric Analysis. *Journal of African Economies*, 24(2), 277–301.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/eju033

- Adachi, K., Nielsen-Saines, K., & Klausner, J. D. (2016). *Chlamydia trachomatis* Infection in Pregnancy: The Global Challenge of Preventing Adverse Pregnancy and Infant Outcomes in Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia. *BioMed Research International*, 2016, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9315757
- Agyei-Mensah, S., & Owoo, N. S. (2015). Explaining regional fertility variations in Ghana. *Journal* of Population Research, 32(3), 157–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12546-015-9147-7</u>
- Alagidede, P., Adu, G., & Frimpong, P. B. (2016). The effect of climate change on economic growth:
 Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa. *Environmental Economics and Policy Studies*, *18*(3), 417–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10018-015-0116-3</u>
- Alam, S. A., & Pörtner, C. (2018a). Income shocks, contraceptive use, and timing of fertility. *Journal of Development Economics*, *131*(C), 96–103.
- Alam, S. A., & Pörtner, C. C. (2018b). Income shocks, contraceptive use, and timing of fertility. *Journal of Development Economics*, 131, 96–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2017.10.007</u>

- Angrist, J., Lavy, V., & Schlosser, A. (2010). Multiple Experiments for the Causal Link between the Quantity and Quality of Children. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 28(4), 773–824. https://doi.org/10.1086/653830
- Asah, S. T. (2015). Transboundary hydro-politics and climate change rhetoric: An emerging hydrosecurity complex in the lake chad basin. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 2(1), 37–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1057</u>
- Asfaw, S., Di Battista, F., & Lipper, L. (2016). Agricultural Technology Adoption under Climate Change in the Sahel: Micro-evidence from Niger. *Journal of African Economies*, 25(5), 637– 669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/ejw005</u>
- Assessing climate change impacts on sorghum and millet yields in the Sudanian and Sahelian savannas of West Africa—IOPscience. (n.d.). Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014040
- Bakhtsiyarava, M., Grace, K., & Nawrotzki, R. J. (2018). Climate, Birth Weight, and Agricultural Livelihoods in Kenya and Mali. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(Suppl 2), S144–S150. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304128</u>
- Barreca, A., Deschenes, O., & Guldi, M. (2018a). Maybe Next Month? Temperature Shocks and Dynamic Adjustments in Birth Rates. *Demography*, 55(4), 1269–1293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0690-7
- Barreca, A., Deschenes, O., & Guldi, M. (2018b). Maybe Next Month? Temperature Shocks and Dynamic Adjustments in Birth Rates. *Demography*, 55(4), 1269–1293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0690-7</u>

- Battisti, D., & Naylor, R. (n.d.). Historical Warnings of Future Food Insecurity with Unprecedented Seasonal Heat / Science. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://science.sciencemag.org/content/323/5911/240.full
- Baum-Snow, N., Brandt, L., Henderson, J. V., Turner, M. A., & Zhang, Q. (2017). Roads, Railroads, and Decentralization of Chinese Cities. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 99(3), 435–448. https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00660
- Becker, G., & Lewis, H. G. (1973). On the Interaction between the Quantity and Quality of Children. *Journal of Political Economy*, 81(2), S279-88.
- Becker, G. S., Duesenberry, J. S., & Okun, B. (n.d.). An Economic Analysis of Fertility. 33.
- Becker, G. S., Murphy, K. M., & Tamura, R. (1990). Human Capital, Fertility, and Economic Growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, *98*(5, Part 2), S12–S37. https://doi.org/10.1086/261723
- Becker, S., Chowdhury, A., & Leridon, H. (1986). Seasonal Patterns of Reproduction in Matlab,
 Bangladesh. *Population Studies*, 40(3), 457–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0032472031000142356</u>
- Benjaminsen, T. A., Alinon, K., Buhaug, H., & Buseth, J. T. (2012). Does climate change drive landuse conflicts in the Sahel? *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(1), 97–111.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311427343

- Benjaminsen, T. A., Berge, G., & Dugan, E. (2004). Myths of Timbuktu: From African El Dorado to Desertification. *International Journal of Political Economy*, 34(1), 31–59. JSTOR.
- Birth intervals, postponement, and fertility decline in Africa: A new type of transition?: Population Studies: Vol 66, No 3. (2019, November 14).

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00324728.2012.701660

Black, R. E., Victora, C. G., Walker, S. P., Bhutta, Z. A., Christian, P., de Onis, M., Ezzati, M., Grantham-McGregor, S., Katz, J., Martorell, R., & Uauy, R. (2013). Maternal and child

undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet*, 382(9890), 427–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60937-X</u>

- Black, R., Kniveton, D., Skeldon, R., Coppard, D., Murata, A., & Schmidt-Verkerk, K. (n.d.). *Demographics and Climate Change: Future Trends And their Policy Implications for Migration*.
 83.
- Bledsoe, C. H., Banja, F., & Carter, A. T. (2002). *Contingent Lives: Fertility, Time, and Aging in West Africa*. University of Chicago Press.
- Bleich, E. G., Rhissa, Z., & Mack, S. (2005). The FAO special programme for food security: Livestock diversification – a case study in Chad. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 61(1), 23–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/WPS200438</u>
- Bongaarts, J., & Casterline, J. (2013). Fertility Transition: Is sub-Saharan Africa Different? *Population and Development Review*, *38*(s1), 153–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2013.00557.x</u>
- Boserup, E. (1985a). Economic and Demographic Interrelationships in sub-Saharan Africa. *Population and Development Review*, 11(3), 383–397. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1973245</u>
- Boserup, E. (1985b). Economic and Demographic Interrelationships in sub-Saharan Africa. *Population and Development Review*, *11*(3), 383. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1973245</u>
- Boserup, E. (2014). *The Conditions of Agricultural Growth: The Economics of Agrarian Change Under Population Pressure*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315070360</u>
- Boserup, M. (1963). Agrarian Structure and Take-off. In W. W. Rostow (Ed.), *The Economics of Take-Off into Sustained Growth* (pp. 201–224). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-63959-5 12

- Botha, D. J. J. (1992). S.H. Frankel: Reminiscences of an Economist (Review Article)*1. *South African Journal of Economics*, 60(4), 246–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1813-</u> <u>6982.1992.tb01049.x</u>
- Boyd, P. W., Collins, S., Dupont, S., Fabricius, K., Gattuso, J.-P., Havenhand, J., Hutchins, D. A.,
 Riebesell, U., Rintoul, M. S., Vichi, M., Biswas, H., Ciotti, A., Gao, K., Gehlen, M., Hurd, C. L.,
 Kurihara, H., McGraw, C. M., Navarro, J. M., Nilsson, G. E., ... Pörtner, H.-O. (2018).
 Experimental strategies to assess the biological ramifications of multiple drivers of global ocean
 change—A review. *Global Change Biology*, 24(6), 2239–2261.

https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14102

- Brauner-Otto, S. R., & Axinn, W. G. (2017). Natural resource collection and desired family size: A longitudinal test of environment-population theories. *Population and Environment*, 38(4), 381–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-016-0267-6</u>
- Butler, C. K., & Gates, S. (2012a). African range wars: Climate, conflict, and property rights. *Journal* of Peace Research, 49(1), 23–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311426166</u>
- Butler, C. K., & Gates, S. (2012b). African range wars: Climate, conflict, and property rights. *Journal* of Peace Research, 49(1), 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311426166

Cain, M. (1981a). Risk and Insurance: Perspectives on Fertility and Agrarian Change in India and Bangladesh. *Population and Development Review*, 7(3), 435–474. JSTOR.

https://doi.org/10.2307/1972559

Cain, M. (1981b). Risk and Insurance: Perspectives on Fertility and Agrarian Change in India and Bangladesh. *Population and Development Review*, 7(3), 435–474. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1972559

- Campbell, M. M., Prata, N., & Potts, M. (2013). The impact of freedom on fertility decline. *Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care*, *39*(1), 44–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jfprhc-2012-100405</u>
- Can Family Planning Programs Reduce High Desired Family Size in Sub-Saharan Africa? (2012, January 3). Guttmacher Institute. <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/journals/ipsrh/2011/12/can-family-planning-programs-reduce-high-desired-family-size-sub-saharan</u>
- Carta, G., D'Alfonso, A., Colagrande, I., Catana, P., Casacchia, M., & Patacchiola, F. (2012). Postearthquake birth-rate evaluation using the brief cope. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine: The Official Journal of the European Association of Perinatal Medicine, the Federation of Asia and Oceania Perinatal Societies, the International Society of Perinatal Obstetricians, 25*(11), 2411–2414. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2012.697945</u>
- Chad 2014-15. (2016). *Studies in Family Planning*, 47(4), 385–394. https://doi.org/10.1111/%28ISSN%291728-4465/issues
- *Chad_200211en.pdf.* (n.d.). Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://fews.net/sites/default/files/documents/reports/Chad_200211en.pdf
- Chafer, T. (2014). Hollande and Africa Policy. *Modern & Contemporary France*, 22(4), 513–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639489.2014.957966
- Characteristics of drought indices and rainfall in Lake Chad Basin: International Journal of Remote Sensing: Vol 34, No 22. (2019, November 14).

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/01431161.2013.827813

Chaudhary, K. C., & Gangwar, P. C. (1977). Seasonal variations in physico-biochemical determinants of buffalo (Bos bubalis) semen and their relation to fertility. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 89(2), 273–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600028185</u>

- Chaudhury, R. H. (1972). Socioeconomic and seasonal variations in births: A replication. *Social Biology*, *19*(1), 65–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1972.9987967</u>
- Child health outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa_A comparison of changes in climate and socioeconomic factors. (2018, December 21). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.04.009
- Child health outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa: A comparison of changes in climate and socioeconomic factors—ScienceDirect. (2018, December 21).

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378016302667

- *Citation—Guns, germs, and steel: The fates of human societies—UW-Madison Libraries.* (2019, August 20). <u>https://search.library.wisc.edu/catalog/9910007689602121/cite</u>
- Climate Change, Conflict and Development in Sudan: Global Neo-Malthusian Narratives and Local Power Struggles—Verhoeven—2011—Development and Change—Wiley Online Library. (2019, August 20). <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1467-7660.2011.01707.x</u>
- Cohan, C. L., & Cole, S. W. (2002). Life course transitions and natural disaster: Marriage, birth, and divorce following Hurricane Hugo. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *16*(1), 14–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.16.1.14</u>
- Conley, D., McCord, G. C., & Sachs, J. D. (2007). Africa's Lagging Demographic Transition: Evidence from Exogenous Impacts of Malaria Ecology and Agricultural Technology (Working Paper No. 12892; Issue 12892). National Bureau of Economic Research.

https://doi.org/10.3386/w12892

- Cooper, R. N., Houghton, J. T., McCarthy, J. J., & Metz, B. (2002). Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. *Foreign Affairs*, *81*(1), 208. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/20033020</u>
- Couttenier, M., & Soubeyran, R. (2014). Drought and Civil War In Sub-Saharan Africa*. *The Economic Journal*, *124*(575), 201–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12042</u>

Das Gupta, M. (2014). Population, Poverty, and Climate Change. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 29(1), 83–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkt009</u>

- Das Gupta, Monica. (2014). Population, Poverty, and Climate Change. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 29(1), 83–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkt009</u>
- Dasgupta, A., & Dasgupta, P. (2017). Socially Embedded Preferences, Environmental Externalities, and Reproductive Rights [Working Paper]. Faculty of Economics.

https://doi.org/10.17863/CAM.12939

- Dasgupta, P. (2003). Chapter 5—Population, Poverty, and the Natural Environment. In K.-G. Mäler
 & J. R. Vincent (Eds.), *Handbook of Environmental Economics* (Vol. 1, pp. 191–247). Elsevier.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1574-0099(03)01010-6
- Davis, J. (2017). Fertility after natural disaster: Hurricane Mitch in Nicaragua. *Population and Environment*, 38(4), 448–464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-017-0271-5</u>
- de Sherbinin, Alex, VanWey, L. K., McSweeney, K., Aggarwal, R., Barbieri, A., Henry, S., Hunter, L. M., Twine, W., & Walker, R. (2008). Rural household demographics, livelihoods and the environment. *Global Environmental Change*, 18(1), 38–53.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2007.05.005

- De Wet, J. I., Bidinger, F. R., & Peacock, J. M. (n.d.). [PDF] Pearl millet (Pennisetum glaucum)-a cereal of the Sahel / Semantic Scholar. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Pearl-millet-(Pennisetum-glaucum)-a-cereal-of-the-Wet-Bidinger/176b4cf2d6cc48d32323fb9dfef37aea2629d693</u>
- De Young, C., & FAO (Eds.). (2012). Climate change implications for fishing communities in the Lake Chad Basin: What have we learned and what can we do better? ; FAO/Lake Chad Basin

Commission Workshop, 18-20 November 2011, N'Djamena, Chad. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.

Demographic Transition and the Emergence of Sustained Economic Growth / Journal of the European Economic Association / Oxford Academic. (2019, August 20).

https://academic.oup.com/jeea/article/3/2-3/494/2281458

- Deschenes, O., Greenstone, M., & Guryan, J. (2009). Climate Change and Birth Weight. *American Economic Review*, 99(2), 211–217.
- Do Population Control Policies Induce More Human Capital Investment? Twins, Birth Weight and China's "One-Child" Policy | The Review of Economic Studies | Oxford Academic. (2019, August 20). https://academic.oup.com/restud/article/76/3/1149/1592252
- Doepke, M. T., Michèle. (2011). *Does Female Empowerment Promote Economic Development?* The World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-5714</u>
- Ehrlich Paul R., & Ehrlich Anne H. (2013). Can a collapse of global civilization be avoided? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280(1754), 20122845.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.2845

- Eloundou-Enyegue, P. M., Stokes, C. S., & Cornwell, G. T. (2000a). Are there crisis-led fertility declines? Evidence from central Cameroon. *Population Research and Policy Review*, *19*(1), 47–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006423527473</u>
- Eloundou-Enyegue, P. M., Stokes, C. S., & Cornwell, G. T. (2000b). Are there crisis-led fertility declines? Evidence from central Cameroon. *Population Research and Policy Review*, *19*(1), 47–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006423527473</u>
- Evaluating global reanalysis precipitation datasets with rain gauge measurements in the Sudano-Sahel region: Case study of the Logone catchment, Lake Chad Basin—Nkiaka—2017—

Meteorological Applications—Wiley Online Library. (n.d.). Retrieved June 2, 2020, from https://rmets.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/met.1600

Exposure to Community Violence and Violence Perpetration: The Protective Effects of Family Functioning: Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology: Vol 33, No 3. (2019, August

20). https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1207/s15374424jccp3303_2

- *External Shocks, Household Consumption and Fertility in Indonesia / SpringerLink.* (2019, August 20). <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11113-009-9157-2</u>
- FAO, & Chad Government. (n.d.). Enquête Nationale post-récoltes sur la Sécurité Alimentaire des ménages ruraux du Tchad, Février 2012—Chad. ReliefWeb. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/chad/enqu%C3%AAte-nationale-post-r%C3%A9coltes-sur-la-</u> s%C3%A9curit%C3%A9-alimentaire-des-m%C3%A9nages-ruraux-du-tchad
- Fertility desires and the course of fertility decline in sub-Saharan Africa. / POPLINE.org. (2019, August 20). <u>https://www.popline.org/node/665702</u>
- Fisher, B., Turner, R. K., & Morling, P. (2009). Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics*, 68(3), 643–653.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2008.09.014

Flückiger, M., & Ludwig, M. (2017). Urbanization, fertility and child education in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Economics Letters*, *157*, 97–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2017.05.024</u>

FR317.pdf. (n.d.-a). Retrieved July 6, 2020, from

https://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR317/FR317.pdf

FR317.pdf. (n.d.-b). Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR317/FR317.pdf FS2012-3070.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved November 14, 2019, from

https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2012/3070/FS2012-3070.pdf

- *Future changes over the Himalayas: Mean temperature—ScienceDirect.* (n.d.). Retrieved June 2, 2020, from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921818117303958
- Galor, O., & Weil, D. N. (2000). Population, Technology, and Growth: From Malthusian Stagnation to the Demographic Transition and Beyond. *American Economic Review*, 90(4), 806–828.
 https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.90.4.806

Gardner, A. (2009). Adaptation as organism design. *Biology Letters*, 5(6), 861–864.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0674

- Gemenne, F. (2011). Why the numbers don't add up: A review of estimates and predictions of people displaced by environmental changes. *Global Environmental Change*, 21, S41–S49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.09.005
- Géraud Magrin, Y. (1996). Crise climatique et mutations de l'agriculture: L'émergence d'un grenier céréalier entre Tchad et Chari. Annales de géographie, 105(592), 620–644. https://doi.org/10.3406/geo.1996.20756

Gleick, P. H. (2014). Water, Drought, Climate Change, and Conflict in Syria. *Weather, Climate, and Society*, 6(3), 331–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-13-00059.1</u>

- Gluckman, P. D., Hanson, M. A., & Spencer, H. G. (2005). Predictive adaptive responses and human evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 20(10), 527–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.08.001</u>
- Grace, K. (2017). Considering climate in studies of fertility and reproductive health in poor countries. *Nature Climate Change*, 7, 479–485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3318</u>

- Grace, K., & Nagle, N. N. (2015). Using High-Resolution Remotely Sensed Data to Examine the Relationship Between Agriculture and Fertility in Mali. *The Professional Geographer*, 67(4), 641–654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00330124.2015.1032899</u>
- Guengant, J.-P., & Guealbaye, M. (2012). *Population, développement et dividende démographique au Tchad* (Centre IRD de Bondy). AFD. <u>http://www.documentation.ird.fr/hor/fdi:010057789</u>
- Guengant, J.-P., & Guealbaye, M. (2019, October 31). (18) (PDF) Population, développement et dividende démographique au Tchad.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280638617_Population_developpement_et_dividende_ demographique_au_Tchad

- Guengant, J.-P., Guealbaye, M., & collab. (n.d.). *Population, développement et dividende démographique au Tchad*. 134.
- Guengant, J.-P., & May, J. F. (2013). African Demography. *Global Journal of Emerging Market Economies*, 5(3), 215–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0974910113505792</u>
- Guinnane, T. W. (2011). The Historical Fertility Transition: A Guide for Economists. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 49(3), 589–614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.49.3.589</u>
- Hampshire, K., & Randall, S. (2000). Pastoralists, agropastoralists and migrants: Interactions between fertility and mobility in northern Burkina Faso. *Population Studies*, 54(3), 247–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/713779098
- Hartmann, B. (2010). Rethinking climate refugees and climate conflict: Rhetoric, reality and the politics of policy discourse. *Journal of International Development*, 22(2), 233–246. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1676

- Health Care–Associated Infections: A Meta-analysis of Costs and Financial Impact on the US Health Care System / Critical Care Medicine / JAMA Internal Medicine / JAMA Network. (2019, August 20). <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamainternalmedicine/fullarticle/1733452</u>
- Henchion, M., Hayes, M., Mullen, A. M., Fenelon, M., & Tiwari, B. (2017). Future Protein Supply and Demand: Strategies and Factors Influencing a Sustainable Equilibrium. *Foods*, 6(7), 53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6070053</u>
- Hill, A. G. (1989). Demographic Responses to Food Shortages in the Sahel. *Population and Development Review*, 15, 168–192. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2807926</u>
- HM Treasury, e-C. T. (2018, July 18). *Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change*. <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.hm-</u> treasury.gov.uk/sternreview_index.htm

Hsiang, S. M. (n.d.). Climate Econometrics. 33.

- Huang, C., Phillips, M. R., Zhang, Y., Zhang, J., Shi, Q., Song, Z., Ding, Z., Pang, S., & Martorell, R. (2013). Malnutrition in early life and adult mental health: Evidence from a natural experiment. *Social Science & Medicine*, 97, 259–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.09.051</u>
- Jowel, C., Claire, D., Rebecca, M., & Jessica, F. (2017). *Climate change and variability: What are the risks for nutrition, diets, and food systems?* Intl Food Policy Res Inst.

Kenneth, O. (2017). The Crises of Postcoloniality in Africa. CODESRIA.

Kessler, R. C., Adler, L., Barkley, R., Biederman, J., Conners, C. K., Demler, O., Faraone, S. V., Greenhill, L. L., Howes, M. J., Secnik, K., Spencer, T., Ustun, T. B., Walters, E. E., & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2006). The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *163*(4), 716–723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.4.716</u>

Kestenbaum, B. (1987). Seasonality of birth: Two findings from the decennial census. *Biodemography and Social Biology*, *34*(3–4), 244–248.
https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1987.9988679

Key Study: Childhood stress and its effects on serotonin (an animal experiment), (Gardner et al. 2009). (2019, March 28). *IB Psychology*. <u>https://www.themantic-education.com/ibpsych/2019/03/28/key-study-childhood-stress-and-its-effects-on-serotonin-an-animal-experiment-gardner-et-al-2009/</u>

- Kodzi, I. A., Casterline, J. B., & Aglobitse, P. (2010). The Time Dynamics of Individual Fertility Preferences Among Rural Ghanaian Women. *Studies in Family Planning*, 41(1), 45–54.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4465.2010.00223.x
- Koubi, V., Bernauer, T., Kalbhenn, A., & Spilker, G. (2012). Climate variability, economic growth, and civil conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, *49*(1), 113–127.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311427173

- Laczko, F., & Aghazarm, C. (2009). Migration, environment and climate change: Assessing the evidence. *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence.* https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20103136708
- Laczko, Frank, & International Organization for Migration (Eds.). (2009). *Migration, environment and climate change: Assessing the evidence*. Internat. Organization for Migration.
- Lam, D. A., & Miron, J. A. (1996). The Effects of Temperature on Human Fertility. *Demography*, 33(3), 291. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2061762</u>
- Langan, M. (2018). Agency, Sovereignty, and Neo-Colonialism. In M. Langan (Ed.), Neo-Colonialism and the Poverty of "Development" in Africa (pp. 207–235). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58571-0_8</u>

- Le, T. T. H. (2016). EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON RICE YIELD AND RICE MARKET IN VIETNAM. Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics, 48(04), 366–382. https://doi.org/10.1017/aae.2016.21
- Levine, M., Milliron, A., & Duffy, L. (1994). Diurnal and seasonal rhythms of melatonin, cortisol and testosterone in interior Alaska. *Arctic Medical Research*, *53*(1), 25–34.
- Levy, S. (n.d.). *Public Investment to Reverse Dutch Disease: The Case of Chad*. ODI. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://www.odi.org/publications/188-public-investment-reverse-dutch-disease-case-chad</u>
- Lobell, D. B., & Burke, M. (2009). *Climate Change and Food Security: Adapting Agriculture to a Warmer World*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lovejoy, P. E. (1984). Commercial Sectors in the Economy of the Nineteenth-Century Central Sudan: The Trans-Saharan Trade and the Desert-Side Salt Trade. *African Economic History*, *13*, 85–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3601480</u>
- Lumey, L. H., & Stein, A. D. (1997a). In utero exposure to famine and subsequent fertility: The Dutch Famine Birth Cohort Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(12), 1962–1966. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.87.12.1962
- Lumey, L. H., & Stein, A. D. (1997b). In utero exposure to famine and subsequent fertility: The Dutch Famine Birth Cohort Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(12), 1962–1966. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.87.12.1962</u>
- Lutz, W., & Striessnig, E. (2015). Demographic aspects of climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Population Studies*, 69(sup1), S69–S76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00324728.2014.969929</u>
- MAGRIN, G. (1996). Crise climatique et mutations de l'agriculture: L'émergence d'un grenier céréalier entre Tchad et Chari. *Annales de Géographie*, *105*(592), 620–644. JSTOR.

- Mahmood, R., Saleemi, S., & Amin, S. (n.d.). Impact of Climate Change on Electricity Demand: A Case Study of Karachi District. 12.
- Male excess among anatomically normal fetuses in spontaneous abortions—Byrne—1987—American Journal of Medical Genetics—Wiley Online Library. (2018, December 23).

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/ajmg.1320260315

Malthus, T. R. (1872). An Essay on the Principle of Population ... The fourth edition.

- Marchal, R. (2016). An emerging military power in Central Africa? Chad under Idriss Déby. 20.
- Massey, D. S., Axinn, W. G., & Ghimire, D. J. (2010). Environmental Change and Out-Migration: Evidence from Nepal. *Population and Environment*, *32*(2), 109–136.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-010-0119-8

- Maternal Exposure to Ambient Temperature and the Risks of Preterm Birth and Stillbirth in Brisbane, Australia | American Journal of Epidemiology | Oxford Academic. (2019, August 20). https://academic.oup.com/aje/article/175/2/99/82520
- Maystadt, J.-F., Calderone, M., & You, L. (2015). Local warming and violent conflict in North and South Sudan. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *15*(3), 649–671.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbu033

Maystadt, J.-F., & Ecker, O. (2014). Extreme Weather and Civil War: Does Drought Fuel Conflict in Somalia through Livestock Price Shocks? *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 96(4), 1157–1182. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/aau010

McClure, E. M., Nalubamba-Phiri, M., & Goldenberg, R. L. (2006). Stillbirth in developing countries. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 94(2), 82–90.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2006.03.023

- McKelvey, C., Thomas, D., & Frankenberg, E. (2012). Fertility Regulation in an Economic Crisis. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, *61*(1), 7–38. https://doi.org/10.1086/666950
- McKenzie, D. J. (2003). How do Households Cope with Aggregate Shocks? Evidence from the Mexican Peso Crisis. World Development, 31(7), 1179–1199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(03)00064-0</u>
- Mertz, O., Mbow, C., Reenberg, A., & Diouf, A. (2009). Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change and Agricultural Adaptation Strategies in Rural Sahel. *Environmental Management*, 43(5), 804–816. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-008-9197-0

Nilsson, E. (n.d.). Patterns and drivers of regional crop production in Chad. 137.

- Nilsson, E., Hochrainer-Stigler, S., Mochizuki, J., & Uvo, C. B. (2016). Hydro-climatic variability and agricultural production on the shores of Lake Chad. *Environmental Development*, 20, 15–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envdev.2016.09.001</u>
- Nilsson, E., & Uvo, C. (2018). Nonlinear dynamics in agricultural systems in Chad. *African Geographical Review*, 0(0), 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19376812.2018.1485585</u>
- Nkiaka, E., Nawaz, N. R., & Lovett, J. C. (2017). Evaluating global reanalysis precipitation datasets with rain gauge measurements in the Sudano-Sahel region: Case study of the Logone catchment, Lake Chad Basin. *Meteorological Applications*, 24(1), 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/met.1600</u>
- Nobles, J., Frankenberg, E., & Thomas, D. (2015). The Effects of Mortality on Fertility: Population Dynamics After a Natural Disaster. *Demography*, *52*(1), 15–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-014-0362-1</u>
- *Observations. Surface and Atmospheric Climate Change. Chapter 3 (Miscellaneous) / ETDEWEB.* (n.d.). Retrieved June 2, 2020, from <u>https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/20962165</u>

Observed climate variability over Chad using multiple observational and reanalysis datasets— ScienceDirect. (2019a, November 26).

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921818117302795

Observed climate variability over Chad using multiple observational and reanalysis datasets— ScienceDirect. (2019b, November 26).

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921818117302795

- Okpara, U. T., Stringer, L. C., & Dougill, A. J. (2017). Using a novel climate–water conflict vulnerability index to capture double exposures in Lake Chad. *Regional Environmental Change*, *17*(2), 351–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-1003-6</u>
- Okpara, U. T., Stringer, L. C., Dougill, A. J., & Bila, M. (n.d.). Conflicts about water in Lake Chad: Are environmental, vulnerability and security issues linked? - Uche T. Okpara, Lindsay C. Stringer, Andrew J. Dougill, Mohammed D. Bila, 2015. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1464993415592738</u>
- Olsson, O. (2016). Climate Change and Market Collapse: A Model Applied to Darfur. *Games*, 7(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/g7010009
- Online_875111.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved August 20, 2019, from https://norek.pw/online_875111.pdf
- Onuoha, F. C. (n.d.). Environmental Degradation, Livelihood and Conflicts: A Focus on the Implications of the Diminishing Water Resources of Lake Chad for North-Eastern Nigeria / African Journal on Conflict Resolution. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajcr/article/view/39425
- Ostrom, E. (1990). *Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action*. Cambridge University Press.

- Partridge, M. D., Feng, B., & Rembert, M. (2017). Improving Climate-Change Modeling of US Migration. American Economic Review, 107(5), 451–455. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.p20171054
- Pasamanick, B., & Knobloch, H. (1966). Retrospective studies on the epidemiology of reproductive casualty: Old and new. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, *12*(1), 7–26.
- Pasamanick, Benjamin, Dinitz, S., & Knobloch, H. (1960). Socio-Economic and Seasonal Variations in Birth Rate (Vol. 38). <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3348689</u>
- Pattanayak, S. K., Jeuland, M., Lewis, J. J., Usmani, F., Brooks, N., Bhojvaid, V., Kar, A., Lipinski, L., Morrison, L., Patange, O., Ramanathan, N., Rehman, I. H., Thadani, R., Vora, M., & Ramanathan, V. (2019). Experimental evidence on promotion of electric and improved biomass cookstoves. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(27), 13282–13287. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1808827116
- Pattnayak, K. C., Abdel-Lathif, A. Y., Rathakrishnan, K. V., Singh, M., Dash, R., & Maharana, P. (2019). Changing Climate Over Chad: Is the Rainfall Over the Major Cities Recovering? *Earth* and Space Science, 6(7), 1149–1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EA000619</u>
- *(PDF) Population, poverty, environment, and climate dynamics in the developing world.* (2018, December 21).
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/264822205_Population_poverty_environment_and_cli mate_dynamics_in_the_developing_world
- (PDF) The Impact of Migration on Fertility in the Philippines. (2018, December 21).
 <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267241485_The_Impact_of_Migration_on_Fertility_in_the_Philippines</u>

Peña, G. J. (n.d.). "History does not repeat itself, but constantly reinvents everything" G. Rist. 8.

- Picardi, A. C., & Seifert, W. W. (1977). A tragedy of the commons in the Sahel. *Ekistics*, 43(258), 297–304. JSTOR.
- Ploch, L. (n.d.). Instability and Humanitarian Conditions in Chad. 14.

Porter, M. E., Stern, S., & Loría, R. A. (n.d.). SOCIAL PROGRESS INDEX 2013. 153.

- Post, R., Hudson, D., Mitchell, D., Bell, P., Perliger, A., & Williams, R. (2016). Rethinking the
 Water-Food-Climate Nexus and Conflict: An Opportunity Cost Approach. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 38(4), 563–577. https://doi.org/10.1093/aepp/ppw027
- Potts, M., Janowitz, B. S., & Fortney, J. A. (2012). *Childbirth in Developing Countries*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Potts, Malcolm, & Hayden, T. (2010). Sex and War: How Biology Explains Warfare and Terrorism and Offers a Path to a Safer World. BenBella Books.
- Potts, Malcolm, Henderson, C., & Campbell, M. (2013). The Sahel: A Malthusian Challenge? *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 55(4), 501–512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-013-9679-2</u>
- Potts, Malcolm, Mahmood, A., & Graves, A. A. (2015). The Pill is Mightier Than the Sword. International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 4(8), 507–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2015.109</u>

PsycNET. (2019, August 20). https://psycnet.apa.org/buy/2002-00749-002

Raleigh, C., & Kniveton, D. (2012). Come rain or shine: An analysis of conflict and climate variability in East Africa. *Journal of Peace Research*, *49*(1), 51–64.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311427754

- Ray, D. K., Ramankutty, N., Mueller, N. D., West, P. C., & Foley, J. A. (2012). Recent patterns of crop yield growth and stagnation. *Nature Communications*, *3*, 1293. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2296
- Reformulation of the Economic Theory of Fertility* / The Quarterly Journal of Economics / Oxford Academic. (2019, August 20). <u>https://academic.oup.com/qje/article-abstract/103/1/1/1868459</u>

Remoff, H. (2016). Malthus, Darwin, and the Descent of Economics: Malthus, Darwin, and the Descent of Economics. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 75(4), 862–903. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12158</u>

- Rhodes, R. E., Mark, R. S., & Temmel, C. P. (2012). Adult sedentary behavior: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42(3), e3-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.020</u>
- Richards, P. (1983). Ecological Change and the Politics of African Land Use. *African Studies Review*, 26(2), 1–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0002020600010209</u>
- Richards, T. (1983). Weather, Nutrition, and the Economy: Short-Run Fluctuations in Births, Deaths, and Marriages, France 1740-1909. *Demography*, 20(2), 197. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2061235</u>
- Robert L. Trivers, & Dan E. Willard. (1973). Natural Selection of Parental Ability to Vary the Sex Ratio of Offspring. *Science, New Series*, *179*(4068), 90–92.

Rockström, J., & Sachs, J. D. (n.d.). Sustainable Development and Planetary Boundaries. 47.

Rosenzweig, M. R., & Schultz, T. P. (1983). Consumer Demand and Household Production: The Relationship Between Fertility and Child Mortality. *The American Economic Review*, 73(2), 38–42.

- Saigal, S., & Doyle, L. W. (2008). An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood. *The Lancet*, 371(9608), 261–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60136-1</u>
- Salas, J. M. I. (n.d.). Typhoons, child mortality, and excess fertility in a disaster-prone country. 48.
- Salibou, I. (n.d.). Chad's vicinity and ethnic warfare in the Logone and Shari Division (far north Cameroon). Retrieved July 6, 2020, from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/298904067_Chad's_vicinity_and_ethnic_warfare_in_th
 e_Logone_and_Shari_Division_far_north_Cameroon
- Schelling, E. (n.d.). (PDF) Human and animal health in nomadic pastoralist of Chad: Zoonoses, morbidity and health services. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/33696300_Human_and_animal_health_in_nomadic_pa</u>
 - storalist_of_Chad_zoonoses_morbidity_and_health_services?enrichId=rgreq-

5970778f3f48081c492a7d8360a6b831-

<u>XXX&enrichSource=Y292ZXJQYWdlOzMzNjk2MzAwO0FTOjE0NDU2MDg00DExNzc2M</u> <u>UAxNDExNDc3NDAxMTEx&el=1_x_3&_esc=publicationCoverPdf</u>

- Scholte, R. S., van den Berg, G. J., & Lindeboom, M. (2015a). Long-run effects of gestation during the Dutch Hunger Winter famine on labor market and hospitalization outcomes. *Journal of Health Economics*, 39, 17–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2014.10.002</u>
- Scholte, R. S., van den Berg, G. J., & Lindeboom, M. (2015b). Long-run effects of gestation during the Dutch Hunger Winter famine on labor market and hospitalization outcomes. *Journal of Health Economics*, 39, 17–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2014.10.002</u>
- Seasonality of birth: Two findings from the decennial census: Social Biology: Vol 34, No 3-4. (2019, August 20). <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/19485565.1987.9988679</u>

- Shapiro, D., & Gebreselassie, T. (2008). Fertility Transition in Sub-Saharan Africa: Falling and Stalling. *African Population Studies*, *23*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.11564/23-1-310</u>
- Sherbinin, A. de, Castro, M., Gemenne, F., Cernea, M. M., Adamo, S., Fearnside, P. M., Krieger, G., Lahmani, S., Oliver-Smith, A., Pankhurst, A., Scudder, T., Singer, B., Tan, Y., Wannier, G., Boncour, P., Ehrhart, C., Hugo, G., Pandey, B., & Shi, G. (2011). Preparing for Resettlement Associated with Climate Change. *Science*, *334*(6055), 456–457. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1208821
- Sivakumar, M. V. K. (1989). Agroclimatic Aspects of Rainfed Agriculture in the Sudano-Sahelian Zone. 17–38. <u>http://oar.icrisat.org/4464/</u>
- Sivakunarl, M. V. K. (n.d.). Agroclimatic Aspects of Rainfed Agriculture in the Sudano-Sahelian Zone. 12.
- Socio-Economic and Seasonal Variations in Birth Rate. (2018, October 1). <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/9104471_Socio-</u> Economic and Seasonal Variations in Birth Rate
- Srivastava, R., & Et al. (n.d.). Frontiers / Genome-Wide Association Studies and Genomic Selection in Pearl Millet: Advances and Prospects / Genetics. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2019.01389/full</u>
- Sultan, B., & Et al. (n.d.). Assessing climate change impacts on sorghum and millet yields in the Sudanian and Sahelian savannas of West Africa—IOPscience. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014040</u>
- *TAR Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis IPCC*. (2019, August 20). <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar3/wg1/</u>

The developmental origins of adult disease—Gluckman—2005—Maternal & amp; Child Nutrition— Wiley Online Library. (2019, August 20).

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1740-8709.2005.00020.x

- *The dying Sahara: US imperialism and terror in Sahara: Africa Review: Vol 7, No 1.* (2019, November 14). <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09744053.2014.977592</u>
- Tir, J., & Stinnett, D. M. (2012). Weathering climate change: Can institutions mitigate international water conflict? *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(1), 211–225.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343311427066

- Tobias, A., & Et al. (n.d.). *Mortality on extreme heat days using official thresholds in Spain: A multicity time series analysis / BMC Public Health / Full Text*. Retrieved July 6, 2020, from <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-12-133</u>
- Turner, M. (1993). Overstocking the Range: A Critical Analysis of the Environmental Science of Sahelian Pastoralism. *Economic Geography*, 69(4), 402–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/143597</u>
- van der Land, V., & Hummel, D. (2013). Vulnerability and the Role of Education in Environmentally Induced Migration in Mali and Senegal. *Ecology and Society*, *18*(4), Article 4.

https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-05830-180414

- Verhoeven, H. (2011). Climate Change, Conflict and Development in Sudan: Global Neo-Malthusian Narratives and Local Power Struggles: Climate Change, Conflict and Development in Sudan. *Development and Change*, 42(3), 679–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7660.2011.01707.x</u>
- Wang, H., Naghavi, M., Allen, C., Barber, R. M., Bhutta, Z. A., Carter, A., Casey, D. C., Charlson, F.
 J., Chen, A. Z., Coates, M. M., Coggeshall, M., Dandona, L., Dicker, D. J., Erskine, H. E.,
 Ferrari, A. J., Fitzmaurice, C., Foreman, K., Forouzanfar, M. H., Fraser, M. S., ... Murray, C. J.
 L. (2016). Global, regional, and national life expectancy, all-cause mortality, and cause-specific

mortality for 249 causes of death, 1980–2015: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet*, *388*(10053), 1459–1544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1</u>

Warren, C. W., & Tyler, C. W. (1979a). Social status and season of birth: A study of a metropolitan area in the southeastern United States. *Social Biology*, 26(4), 275–288.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1979.9988386

Warren, C. W., & Tyler, C. W. (1979b). Social status and season of birth: A study of a metropolitan area in the southeastern United States. *Social Biology*, 26(4), 275–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1979.9988386</u>

WFP2017_Highlights.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved July 19, 2018, from
 <u>http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/family/WFP2017_Highlight
 s.pdf</u>

- WHO / Contraceptive prevalence. (2018, July 19). WHO.
 <u>http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/family_planning/contraceptive_prevalence/en/</u>
- *Winnick Dissertation FINAL-augmented.pdf.* (n.d.). Retrieved June 2, 2020, from https://stacks.stanford.edu/file/druid:qb312yf8828/Winnick%20Dissertation%20FINAL-augmented.pdf
- Winnick, M. J., Chamberlain, C. P., Caves, J. K., & Welker, J. M. (2014). Quantifying the isotopic 'continental effect.' *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 406, 123–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2014.09.005</u>
- Yadav, R. S., Hash, C. T., Bidinger, F. R., Devos, K. M., & Howarth, C. J. (2004). Genomic regions associated with grain yield and aspects of post-flowering drought tolerance in pearl millet across

stress environments and tester background. Euphytica, 136(3), 265–277.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:EUPH.0000032711.34599.3a

- Yang, S., & Shumway, C. R. (n.d.). *Dynamic Adjustment in U.S. Agriculture under Climate* Uncertainty. 32.
- Zhao, C., Liu, B., Piao, S., Wang, X., Lobell, D. B., Huang, Y., Huang, M., Yao, Y., Bassu, S., Ciais, P., Durand, J.-L., Elliott, J., Ewert, F., Janssens, I. A., Li, T., Lin, E., Liu, Q., Martre, P., Müller, C., ... Asseng, S. (2017). Temperature increase reduces global yields of major crops in four independent estimates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(35), 9326–9331. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1701762114
- (4) (PDF) Twentieth century Sahel rainfall variability as simulated by the ARPEGE AGCM, and future changes. (n.d.). Retrieved June 2, 2020, from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/226116817 Twentieth century Sahel rainfall variabil ity as simulated by the ARPEGE AGCM and future changes
 54216f990cf203f155c6afe9.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved June 3, 2020, from

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Esther_Schelling/publication/33696300_Human_and_anim_ al_health_in_nomadic_pastoralist_of_Chad_zoonoses_morbidity_and_health_services/links/542 16f990cf203f155c6afe9.pdf My final words on this dissertation are to give Glory to God in Jesus Christ. Amen